
 

 

Thanet District Council, PO Box 9, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent, CT9 1XZ 
Tel: +44 (0)1843 577000 Fax: +44 (0)1843 290906 DX 30555 (Margate) www.thanet.gov.uk 

Chief Executive: Sue McGonigal 

 
 

 
Date: 9 June 2014 
Our ref: Cabinet/Agenda 
Ask For: Charles Hungwe 
Direct Dial: (01843) 577186 
Email: charles.hungwe@thanet.gov.uk 

 
 
 

CABINET 
 

19 JUNE 2014 
 
A meeting of the Cabinet will be held at 7.00 pm on Thursday, 19 June 2014 in the Council 
Chamber, Council Offices, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent. 
 

Membership: 
 
Councillor Johnston (Chairman); Councillors: Everitt, D Green, E Green, Harrison and 
Nicholson 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Item 
No 

                                                        Subject 

 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive any declarations of interest. Members are advised to consider the advice 
contained within the Declaration of Interest form attached at the back of this agenda. If a 
Member declares an interest, they should complete that form and hand it to the officer 
clerking the meeting and then take the prescribed course of action. 

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 1 - 2) 

 To approve the summary of recommendations and decisions of the Cabinet meeting held 
on 1 May 2014, copy attached. 

4. ASSET MANAGEMENT - DISPOSAL OF ASSETS (Pages 3 - 28) 

5. ADOPTION OF THE HOUSING REGENERATION ENFORCEMENT POLICY AND 
GUIDANCE DOCUMENT (Pages 29 - 110) 

6. NOTICE OF MOTION NO. 2  - DESIGNATION OF CONSERVATION AREA, 
CLIFTONVILLE (Pages 111 - 114) 

7. REPRESENTATION ON EXECUTIVE APPOINTED OUTSIDE BODIES FOR 2014/15 
(Pages 115 - 120) 

 Declaration of Interest form - back of agenda 
 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

Minutes of the meeting held on 1 May 2014 at 7.00 pm in Council Chamber, Council 
Offices, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent. 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor C Hart (Chairman); Councillors Everitt, Fenner, D Green, 
Johnston and Poole 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Edwards, S Hart, Moores, M Tomlinson, Watkins, Wells 
and Wise 
 

 
157. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
There were no apologies received at the meeting. 
 

158. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

159. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes were agreed and signed by the Chairman. 
 

160. WRITE-OFF OF DEBTS  
 
Members considered the report on identified debts for the period covering 2005 to 2013 
that remained unpaid. Officers advised that these debts were all unrecoverable due to 
the circumstances of the companies and therefore they should be written off. These 
debts whose detail was highlighted in the annexes to the Cabinet report totalled 
£264,386.20. The write offs would be charged to the Collection Fund. The only General 
Fund impact would be the costs associated with these debts which total £155.00. 
 
Councillor Moores spoke under Council Procedure 24.1. 
 
Councillor Everitt proposed, Councillor C. Hart seconded and Members approved the 
write offs of the identified debt. 
 

161. PROPOSED NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN AREA FOR MARGATE  
 
Cabinet considered an application for the designation of a Margate Neighbourhood Plan 
Area submitted by a potential neighbourhood forum. The proposed Forum conducted a 
public consultation process which received significant community support. 
 
Councillor D. Green proposed, Councillor C. Hart seconded and Cabinet agreed that the 
Council designates the Margate Neighbourhood Plan Area as shown at Annex 2 of the 
report. 
 

162. PROPOSED NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM FOR MARGATE  
 
The proposed Neighbourhood Forum submitted an application to be designated as a 
formal Neighbourhood Forum for the proposed Margate Neighbourhood Plan Area. 
 
Councillor D. Green proposed, Councillor C. Hart seconded and Cabinet agreed that the 
Council designates the proposed Margate Neighbourhood Forum. 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



2 
 

163. PROPOSED NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN AREA FOR CLIFFSEND  
 
Cabinet was advised that Cliffsend Parish Council had submitted an application for the 
designation of neighbourhood Plan Area for Cliffsend Parish. A public consultation was 
conducted and received wide public support. 
 
Councillor D. Green proposed, Councillor C. Hart seconded and Members agreed that 
the Cliffsend Neighbourhood Plan Area be designated as shown at Annex 2 of the 
Cabinet report (excluding the County Park). 
 

164. PROPOSED REVISION TO LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME  
 
The item was withdrawn. 
 

165. DREAMLAND  
 
Members were advised that the Council held the freehold interest of the Dreamland Site, 
part of which was being proposed to be operated as an amusement park. A number of 
options had been investigated with regard to the appropriate technical expertise that 
would be required to operate a high quality amusement park and (having also obtained 
legal advice) officers had concluded that the best way forward was to procure a service 
concession contract. Cabinet was requested to offer support for the tender to be carried 
out for the Dreamland. 
 
Councillor Wells and Councillor M. Tomlinson spoke under Council Procedure Rule 24.1. 
 
Councillor C. Hart proposed, Councillor Johnston seconded and Members approved the 
procurement of a suitable third party to operate the amusement park in line with the 
process detailed in the Cabinet report. 
 
 
 
Meeting concluded: 7.25 pm 
 
 

Page 2



 

 
ASSET MANAGEMENT – DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 
 
To: Cabinet - 19 June 2014 
 
Main Portfolio Area: Community Services  
 
By: Natalie Beldin, Estates Surveyor 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
Ward: All 
 

 
Summary: To seek the agreement of Cabinet to progress disposal of 

surplus land and property within the adopted asset 
disposal process. 
 
Additionally, Cabinet are asked to consider two other 
property assets, Margate Caves for a lease and an area of 
Hartsdown Park for a short term licence. 

 
For Decision 
 

 
1.0 Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 The Council uses its property assets for a range of purposes including direct 

delivery of services, revenue generation and supporting corporate plan 
objectives. The current general fund portfolio is diverse and is reviewed 
regularly in relation to maintenance liability, revenue generation and capital 
appreciation. Assets held on the register that are considered to be surplus are 
presented to Cabinet for potential disposal. 

 
1.2 The Interim Property Disposal Process, adopted in May 2012, requires future 

disposals to be approved by Cabinet. The list of proposed sites, if approved, 
will enhance the value of the current asset disposal list and offers the potential 
to achieve a capital receipt for the Authority to contribute to future capital 
projects and corporate objectives, whilst reducing maintenance and repair 
liabilities for the Authority. 
 

1.3 In addition to the freehold disposals, Cabinet are asked to consider two further 
property assets. One of which was subject to an historic disposal decision, the 
other an area of parkland which a commercial business is seeking consent to 
utilise. 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 3



2.0 The Current Situation 
 
2.1 Capital receipts are necessary to fund future capital projects. If surplus 

property or land is not identified and capital realised, the council’s capital 
projects will be vastly reduced or alternative methods of funding will have to 
be found. In addition, market conditions can be volatile and unforeseen events 
may restrict obtaining receipts. Challenging asset performance is essential in 
ensuring that the land and property portfolio is efficient and fit for purpose, 
whilst ensuring statutory compliance. 

 
2.2 The list of assets, with plans, contained in Annex 1 is proposed as surplus and 

suitable for progression through the disposal framework, having already been 
considered by CAMG. In addition, Annex 2 contains property assets which are 
currently on the asset disposal list. A review of historic records shows that 
these sites were approved some years ago, the estates department have 
brought them back to Cabinet as the decisions are considered too distant and 
should be re-validated. 

 
2.2.1 Cabinet are also asked to consider a further property asset which is the 

Margate Caves site, Northdown Road, Margate. Full details of the asset and 
its status are contained in annex 3. Cabinet are asked to authorise removal of 
the asset from the capital disposal list and consider letting the site to a 
charitable organisation for opening as a tourist attraction and developing 
community facilities. The project model submitted does not support payment 
of rental therefore the charity are requesting a peppercorn rental for the term 
of the lease.  The Council benefits from powers under the Local Government 
Act: General Disposal Consent 2003 to consider granting an interest in land at 
less than best consideration which it considers will help secure the promotion 
or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of its 
area. 

 
2.2.2 Members are also asked to consider a request received from a private 

nursery school for Thanet District Council to grant an agreement to occupy 
land forming part of the public area in Hartsdown Park, Margate. Refer to 
annex 4 for site plan and further information. The site area is approximately 
150 sq.m and comprises grassed area and trees which adjoins the car park. 
The proposal is for the land to be used for forest school purposes and a 
boundary fence erected, subject to other statutory consents required. Such 
exclusion of the public may require publically advertising firstly and 
representations given due consideration in accordance with s.123 (2A) of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 

 
3.0 Options 
 
3.1 The following are the possible list of options relating to the various sites set 

out in annexes 1 and 2; 

3.1.1 To agree to the list of properties in Annex 1 being surplus to requirements and 
therefore to be progressed through the agreed asset disposal process. 

 

Page 4



3.1.2 To reject all or some of the assets proposed as being surplus, with reasons 
and corrective actions necessary. 

 
3.1.3 To remove the Margate Caves site from the capital disposal list and agree to 

Officers progressing lease negotiations to the Margate Caves Community 
Education Trust for a term in the region of 24 years at a peppercorn rent, fixed 
for the term. 

 
3.1.4 Retain the Margate Caves site on the Capital disposal list and progress for 

sale and decline the request to lease the site. 
 
3.1.5 Consider the request for use of part of the public park at Hartsdown and either 

agree to the principle and allow Officers to progress the process in granting an 
agreement for use of the land; give direction to part of the land being used or 
decline the request and retain as Public Park. 

 
3.1.6  It is proposed that of the above options 3.1.1 and 3.1.3 are adopted by 

Cabinet. 
 

4.0 Corporate Implications 
 
4.1 Financial and VAT 
 
4.1.1 From the list of disposals it is anticipated there will be a small revenue rental 

loss of £3,700 being the total loss of budgeted rental income on the land at 
Whiteness Road and land adjacent to the Marlowe Academy. This reduction 
of income will not be offset by the Estates team, but will contribute towards 
reduced management costs. The direct offset will be a reduction in budgeted 
running costs for Retort House on disposal of £2,970. It is also noted that 
Retort House has been the subject of a condition survey which highlights 
substantial works required, circa £277,000 ex VAT which has not been 
factored into the Medium Term financial plan. 

 
4.1.2  The sale of new sites and those that are listed on the remote decision list 

could generate in the region of £100,000 for re-investment in the council’s 
capital corporate priorities. 

 
4.1.3 Specialist VAT advice will need to be sought on Margate Caves as lease 

negotiations proceed. As the Council has opted to Tax for VAT on the whole 
of the Dreamland Site the Triangular Strip of Land within the site proposed for 
disposal will be subject to VAT at the prevailing rate on disposal. 

 
4.2 Legal 
 
4.2.1 Provided that the disposals of assets are dealt with through the agreed 

process there are no residual legal issues. 
 

Page 5



4.3 Corporate 
 
4.3.1 This report has been prepared with reference to the Property Disposal 

Process 2012-14, adopted by Cabinet on 10th May 2012 – refer to annex 5 for 
process. 

 
4.3.2 Release of surplus council assets will provide capital receipts to fund priorities 

aligned to the current Corporate Plan. Should capital not be realised through 
disposal the risk to the Authority will be in securing funds to deliver such 
priorities. 

 
4.3.3 Retaining surplus sites exposes the Authority to unnecessary maintenance 

liabilities, costs, management, liability and health and safety property risks. 
 
4.3.4 Granting a lease for the Margate Caves site for development of a visitor 

attraction, education and community space is considered consistent with 
corporate priorities 3 and 8. 

 
4.4 Equity and Equalities 
 
4.4.1 The council’s equality duty has been assessed in relation to the elements of 

this report, but it is not considered that these will compromise the rights and 
requirements of any group in relation to the adoption of the recommendation. 

 
5.0 Recommendations 
 
5.1 That Cabinet agree to the sites contained in Annex 1 as surplus and 

progressed through the disposal framework for freehold sale; 
 
5.2 That Cabinet re-confirm the decision to dispose of sites in Annex 2 so they 

can be progressed through the disposal framework for a freehold sale; 
 
5.3 That Cabinet agree to Officers progressing negotiations for the letting of the 

Margate Caves site at a peppercorn rental in accordance with option 3.1.3; 
 
5.4 That instructions are issued to Officers regarding the land at Hartsdown Park. 
 
6.0 Decision Making Process 

 
6.1 This is a key decision which can be taken by Cabinet. 
 

Contact Officer: Natalie Beldin, Estates Surveyor, ext 7020 

Reporting to: Edwina Crowley, Head of Economic Development and Asset 
Management 

 
Annex List 
 

Annex 1 Proposed asset disposal list requiring Cabinet decision and site plans 

Annex 2 Surplus sites and remote decisions with site plans. 

Annex 3 Margate Caves plan and information 

Page 6



Annex 4 Hartsdown Park plan and information 

Annex 5 Adopted Property Disposal Process 

 
Corporate Consultation Undertaken 
 

Finance Nicola Walker, Finance Manager – HRA, Capital & External Funding 

Legal Steven Boyle, Interim Legal Services Manager & Monitoring Officer 
 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 1 
 

PROPOSED SITES FOR DISPOSAL 
 
 

 

Asset number Site Plan ref 

345/2-4 Land at Whiteness Road, Broadstairs 1. 

213/2-1 St Lawrence closed PC's, Ramsgate 2. 

167/1-5 Land adjoining Marlowe Academy, Ramsgate 3. 

362/1-2 Green Wedge land, Dane Valley Road, St Peters 4. 

500/1-1 Triangular land within Dreamland site, Margate 5. 

365/1-4 Former Pavilion, St Peters Rec, Broadstairs 6.  

 

Agenda Item 4

Annex 1

Page 9



SITE INFORMATION AND PLANS 

1. Land at Whiteness Road, Broadstairs 

Name and address of  land/property Land at Whiteness Road, Kingsgate 

Current Description Car park extension adjoining the 
Captain Digby PH 

rental received p.a. / gross yield £3,100 p.a. 

 

Current use of  land/property 

• 1,275 Square metres of land used as a car park (approximately 79 spaces) and leased to 
Thorley Taverns who have the benefit of a commercial lease agreement. 

 

Use, condition and maintenance issues 

• Uneven and requires resurfacing, drainage and layout as car parking spaces. 

• Members of the North Foreland Golf Club and Kingsgate Bay Chalet holders are permitted to 
park on the land at no charge under the current agreement.  Such use should form condition to 
any sale. 

 

Alternatives 

• There is not considered to be any alternative development suitable and any sale would be 
covenanted accordingly. 

 

Advantages / Case for disposal of the land/property 

• Disposal of the site would yield a financial receipt considered more beneficial to the modest 
revenue income achievable for the site. Disposal of the site will enable investment by the 
purchaser for the area to be upgraded, maintained and less of an eyesore. There is a potential  
"marriage value" gain in combining the site with the adjacent land which will be considered 
further should the asset be progressed for disposal. 

 

Issues which may inhibit disposal of the land/property 

• Possible opposition from the neighbouring golf course and chalet holders, but with 
reassurance of a covenant as identified above this will go some way to alleviate the concerns. 

 

Recommendation 

• Disposal is recommended with a covenant prohibiting any possible redevelopment and 
allowing the current parking arrangements to be retained. 

 

SLA: 100018261        Not to Scale 

Page 10



 

2. St Lawrence Close PC’s, Ramsgate 

Name and address of  land/property St Lawrence Closed PC’s, Ramsgate  

Current Description Former public conveniences 

rental received p.a. / gross yield None  

 

Current use of  land/property 

• Toilet block ceased operational use in excess of ten years. 

 

Use, condition and maintenance issues 

• The exterior condition of the building is reasonable although maintenance to the whole is 
required. The front elevation sits within the adjoining boundary wall to residential properties. 

• Maintenance liability falls to TDC although it is considered low at this time. 

 

Alternatives 

• The Council currently have no requirement to reopen the block therefore the asset should be 
considered surplus. 

 

Advantages / Case for disposal of the land/property 

• Disposal of the site would yield a financial receipt and extinguish maintenance liability for the 
authority. 

• It is a waste of an asset to leave it locked in disrepair, to transfer would encourage it to be re-
used, possibly as a store or as additional garden for the adjoining houses. 

 

Issues which may inhibit disposal of the land/property 

• None identified. 

 

Recommendation 

• Disposal is recommended in accordance with the adopted disposal framework. 

 

Page 11



 

SLA: 100018261        Not to Scale 

3. Land adjoining Marlowe Academy, Ramsgate 

Name and address of  land/property Land adjoining the Marlowe Academy, New Haine Road, 
Ramsgate  

Current Description Square area of land occupied under annual licence by 
the Marlowe Academy. 

rental received p.a. / gross yield £600 p.a.  

 

Current use of  land/property 

• Green buffer between the school and Jackey Bakers, licence granted to reduce vandalism to 
the academy building which has been successful. 

• The site measures approximately 932 sq.m. 

 

Use, condition and maintenance issues 

• Maintenance liability for the site and boundary currently sits with the licence holder. 

• Current use is a landscaped amenity area. 

• The disposal to the Marlowe Academy would be subject to a restrictive covenant to ensure the 
area continues to be used as existing, ie green space. 

 

Alternatives 

• The land could be retained by the Authority and opened up to public to use, there is no point in 
retaining and excluding the public. 

 

Advantages / Case for disposal of the land/property 

• Disposal of the site would yield a financial receipt but extinguish the revenue stream from the 
annual income. 

Page 12



 

Issues which may inhibit disposal of the land/property 

• None identified at this time.  The site would require publicly advertising in accordance with the 
Local Government Act as open space. 

 

Recommendation 

• Disposal is recommended in accordance with the adopted disposal framework. 

 

 

SLA: 100018261        Not to Scale 

4. Land at Dane Valley Road, St Peters 

Name and address of  land/property Land at Dane Valley Road, St Peters, Broadstairs 

Current Description Vacant former landfill site. 

rental received p.a. / gross yield None 

 

Current use of  land/property 

• Green wedge between the urban areas of Broadstairs and Margate. 

• The site area is approximately 6 acres and has in more recent years been used for 
unauthorised pedal and motorbike use and illegal fly tipping. 
 

 

Use, condition and maintenance issues 

• Maintenance liability for the site and boundary currently lies with TDC. 

• Ongoing reactive repairs to boundary fencing and clearance of rubbish. 

• The Estates department are in regular receipt of complaints from the adjoining commercial 
estate about the antisocial behaviour on the site 

• There is no budget in the medium term financial plan (MTFP) to accommodate landscaping, 
maintenance or security. 

• The use of the land is restricted by the local plan, which identifies the area as green wedge, it 
is likely to be of interest to the adjoining farm owners. 

 

Page 13



Alternatives 

• The land could be retained by the Authority but this would require a revised budget to be 
factored into the MTFP and the council would need to prove that there is a need for it to be 
retained. 

 

Advantages / Case for disposal of the land/property 

• Disposal of the site would yield a financial receipt whilst reducing maintenance liability to the 
Council. 

 

Issues which may inhibit disposal of the land/property 

• Use of the site will be restricted by the Local Plan allocation for the site as green wedge land, 
the draft local plan continues to restrict the land as green wedge. 

 

Recommendation 

• Disposal is recommended in accordance with the adopted disposal framework. 

 

 

SLA: 100018261        Not to Scale 

5. Scrap land at Dreamland Park, Margate 

Name and address of  land/property Land at rear of 69 Eaton Road, Margate forming part of 
Dreamland Park 

Current Description Triangular land growth/uneven surface 

rental received p.a. / gross yield None 

 

Current use of  land/property 

• 40 Square metres of rough unsurfaced land, currently forming part of the Dreamland site 
acquired in 2013. 

• Southern Housing Group are developing adjoining land for social housing purposes and due to 
a boundary plan problem have already factored this land into their housing development plans.  
TDC acquired the Dreamland site with this Boundary dispute and are seeking to regularise the 
situation. 

 

Use, condition and maintenance issues 

• Currently being prepared for use as landscape area by the Housing Group. 

 

Alternatives 

• There is no need to retain as part of the Council plans for the Dreamland site. 

 

Page 14



Advantages / Case for disposal of the land/property 

• The site is particularly small and is not considered that any sale would have an impact on the 
Council’s retained land but would provide a barrier to the adjoining high density residential 
development at the western elevation. 

 

Issues which may inhibit disposal of the land/property 

• None identified. 

 

Recommendation 

• That the land is progressed through the disposal framework. 

 

  

SLA: 100018261        Not to Scale 

Site 6 

Name and address of  land/property Former Cricket Pavilion, St Peters Rec, Broadstairs  

Current Description Former sports pavilion, closed some time ago 

rental received p.a. / gross yield None  

 

Current use of  land/property 

• The property was a former sports pavilion, managed by Your Leisure as part of the outdoor 
leisure contract but surrendered back to TDC earlier in the year as there was no operational 
requirement in the location. 

• The property measures approximately 66 sq.m. 

 

Use, condition and maintenance issues 

• The property is of timber construction, part of which is rotten and requires repair.  The property 
suffers from vandalism and graffiti and youths often climb on the roof of the building. 

• Maintenance responsibility currently falls to TDC. 

 

Page 15



Alternatives 

• The property could be demolished, subject to funds and the site area used as part of the public 
park. 

 

Advantages / Case for disposal of the land/property 

• The council have been approached by a community group who would like to use the site for 
social youth club purposes, daytime hours only.  Whilst not designated under the community 
asset transfer program there can be little alternative use and a sale to a community group 
would support the corporate plan 

• There is little financial value in the sale as a condition of sale would be a restrictive covenant 
for community use and there would be no vehicular access for the sale. 

• Disposal of the site would yield a nominal financial receipt for the Council but significantly 
reduce the maintenance costs and insurance liability. 

 

Issues which may inhibit disposal of the land/property 

• None identified at this time.  The site would require publicly advertising in accordance with the 
Local Government Act as open space. 

 

Recommendation 

• Disposal is recommended in accordance with the adopted disposal framework. 

 

 

Page 16



Annex 2    Land and Property disposal sites – for information 

 

List of Remote decisions     

      

Asset ref Address Date of last decision Plan Ref   

24/01.-1 Land at Booth Place, Margate 7/8/08 + 22/9/11 7.   

392/1-1 Land at Ramsgate Road, Broadstairs 18/09/2008 8.   

131 Land at Park Lane, Birchington 18/09/2008 9.   

383/1-2 Retort House, Albion Street, Broadstairs 18/09/2008 10.   

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

Agenda Item 4

Annex 2

Page 17



Site 7 

   

 

  

Name and address of  land/property  Booth Place Margate 

Current Description  Unauthorised car parking 

Date of previous cabinet decision  7/8/08 and 22/9/11 

rental received p.a. / gross yield  None 

 

Current use of  land/property 

• 300 Square metres of rough surfaced land, currently utilised by local residents as an 
unauthorised area of car parking. 

• The area has been the subject of capital bids previously for money to surface and mark out the 
area but the funds have not been allocated for this to take place. 

 

Use, condition and maintenance issues 

• TDC maintenance responsibility including removal of rubbish and abandoned cars at medium 
cost. 

 

Comment from Planning and Legal 

• Legal Services advise that there are no restrictions on sale. 

• The site has an expired planning consent for 2 three storey houses. 

• Local plans advise that the site is featured on the National Land Use Database as brownfield 
land. 

 

Alternatives 

• Potential for residential development. 

 

Advantages / Case for disposal of the land/property 

• Disposal of the site would yield a financial receipt to the Council whilst reducing maintenance 
liabilities. 

 

Issues which may inhibit disposal of the land/property 

• Possible opposition from local residents who may prefer to utilise the site for parking purposes 
but the sale would be on a tender/auction basis and the residents would therefore have the 
opportunity to bid for the site. 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



Site 8 

Name and address of  land/property Land at Ramsgate Road, Broadstairs 

Current Description Open rough grassland 

Date of previous Cabinet decision 18/9/08 

rental received p.a. / gross yield None 

 

Current use of  land/property 

• 377 Square metres of rough land, currently containing shrubs and rough grass. 

• The land adjoins the pedestrian accessway to Salisbury Avenue. 

• The adjoining owner has requested to purchase sections of the site in the past in order to 
facilitate extension of his property. 

 

Use, condition and maintenance issues 

• TDC maintenance responsibility including removal of rubbish and grounds maintenance.  In 
the opinion of the Parks Manager, maintenance costs far exceed the public benefit of the site 
in its existing condition. 

 

Comment from Planning and Legal 

• Legal Services have previously advised that there are no restrictions on sale. 

• Planning comments have not been sought at this stage. 

 

Alternatives 

• Considered potential for garden extension. 

 

Advantages / Case for disposal of the land/property 

• The land is a liability for the Council in terms of maintenance obligations and could provide a 
receipt to the Council. 
 

 

Issues which may inhibit disposal of the land/property 

• None known 

 

 

Site 9 

Page 19



Name and address of  land/property Land at Park Lane, Birchington 

Current Description The site is untended low grade amenity land 

Date of previous Cabinet decision  18/9/08 

rental received p.a. / gross yield None 

 

Current use of  land/property 

• The site measures approximately 544 sq.m comprising untended open land, with significant 
tree cover and which adjoins the Silver Band Hall. 

• The site appears to offer potential for better land use and interest has previously been 
received for developing the site.  

 

Use, condition and maintenance issues 

• Currently unused. 

• In poor condition. 

• The Council is responsible for maintenance although reactive at this time. 

• The Estates team receive many complaints about the condition of the land, there has been no 
allowance in the MTFP to maintain the site. 

 

Alternatives 

• The Council has no alternative that would comply with its function as a district council. 

 

Advantages / Case for disposal of the land/property 

• The land could be put to a more productive use. 

• The site provides no income to the Council but could provide a capital receipt. 

 

Issues which may inhibit disposal of the land/property 

• None known. 
 

 

Site 10 

Page 20



Name and address of  land/property Retort House, Albion St CP, Broadstairs 

Current Description Sports and leisure club 

Date of previous Cabinet decision  18/9/08 

rental received p.a. / gross yield None 

 

Current use of  land/property 

• Built in the 1920’s, the property is currently used as a sports and social club, operated by a 
voluntary committee as the  group were not prepared to renew their lease due to extensive 
repairs required to the property.  

 

Use, condition and maintenance issues 

• The premises now requires significant repairs and adaptation to bring it up to a compliant 
standard.  A recently commissioned survey report indicates that the building requires circa 
£277,000 ex VAT of repairs.  The building is not DDA compliant.   

• These works are not factored into the medium term financial plan and therefore it poses a risk 
to the achievement of this plan if the situation continues. 

 

Alternatives 

• Due to the significant works required the premises will need to be closed at the end of a long 
stop date – 31 September 2014 – which will give the occupier’s time to relocate. 

• The Council must work up plans to deal with the premises, including refurbishment, sale, 
demolish and look at alternative uses for the site 

• The Council has confirmed that the premises is not required as a District Community Hall. 

 

Advantages / Case for disposal of the land/property 

• By confirming the site is surplus for the District Councils Requirements, the estate team can 
move forward with a review of the site. 

• The town council has indicated that a charity may require the premises for its plans to 
accommodate a community hall, but they are required to undertake a feasibility study in the 
first instance. 

• It is understood the Charity may register this asset under the Localism Act, Community Asset 
Transfer rights.   

 

 

Issues which may inhibit disposal of the land/property 

 
None known 

 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 3  Margate Caves Site 

Current position 
 
The Margate caves were leased and operated as a tourist attraction until 2004 when a 
prohibition notice was placed on them by the Health & Safety Executive due to issues 
relating to means of escape and the structural integrity of the caves. As monies could not be 
secured to address all of the issues to lift the prohibition notice and reopen the caves by the 
tenant at the time or the Council, a decision was made to close the caves. Certain protective 
works were undertaken by the Council due to the vulnerability of certain areas of the site.  
Since that time the site has remained vacant and is now largely overgrown to the main 
surface area. The site was put forward for disposal in 2009 and a scheme prepared for 
residential development of the site. The then Cabinet resolved that the site should be 
progressed to disposal. 
 
Strong local opposition was raised to potential sale of the site and a community group 
formed to press for reopening the caves as a tourist attraction. The Friends of Margate 
Caves (FOMC) prepared a business plan and case for opening the site and developing a 
community and tourist attraction which was considered by Senior Managers and CAMG and 
supported. A grant was awarded by TDC to FOMC to progress the feasibility and funding 
element of the project with the intention of a lease being granted for a term commensurate 
with funding requirements. 
 
Next Steps 
 
The site requires a resolution to formally remove from the capital disposal list and 
consideration given to the proposed transaction to the FOMC which is now a registered 
charity, The Margate Caves Community Education Trust. In order to satisfy funders 
requirements a lease term in excess of 20 years is required. In addition, to allow 
reinvestment in the site the charity has requested a peppercorn rental which again requires 
specific approval under the Local Government Act 1972:General Disposal Consent 
(England) 2003 in granting an interest in the site at less than best consideration. Should 
members chose to support this project in taking the action detailed in this annex, Officers will 
continue to work with the charity in progressing the project and granting an interest in the 
site. 
 
In considering applying the above powers the restricted and unrestricted capital values 
require reporting in accordance with RICS Professional Standards. It is considered that the 
difference between the restricted and unrestricted value is £101,000. 
 

Agenda Item 4

Annex 3

Page 23



 

 

Page 24



Annex 4 

Land at Hartsdown Park, Margate 
 
Current position 
 
Thanet District Council are the freehold owners of Hartsdown Park which comprises 
predominantly public park but also operational depot, sports and leisure centres and several 
sports clubs and commercial businesses. One of which is Manor House Nursery School 
which occupy Hartsdown House as a private pre-school nursery and forest school.  The MD 
of the nursery has approached the Council requesting an agreement to occupy an area of 
Hartsdown Park to develop nursery services to provide an allotment area and further Forest 
school activity area. Initially the MD identified three possible sites, indicated on the plan 
below, which were considered by Officers and sites one and two were discounted as 
inappropriate, however site three may be considered suitable for the proposed nursery and 
forest school use and it is understood that the Nursery would not wish to change the land 
save for excluding the public by erecting fencing which would require advertising and 
planning consent.  Ward Councillors for the area were consulted on the proposal for use of 
this site and no objections were raised.  If the Council let the land they could secure revenue 
income, however the public would be excluded from the site which measures approximately 
150 sq.m. 
 
The Options  
 
The options include; 

• agreeing to the principle of granting an interest in the site below subject to advertising 
and planning;  

• consider allowing a lesser area to be used or; 

• Declining the request altogether and retaining the land as public park. 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 4

Annex 4

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 5 

 

 

Process Notes 
  
•         New assets proactively identified through  cost 

benefit analysis 
•         C&AMG propose assets identified including low 

value (under£25K) 
•         Low value assets will be provided to Cabinet for 

information only and disposal will be progressed 
automatically 

•         Cabinet agree assets disposals for properties 
with a value over £25K 

•         If cabinet disagree with asset disposal, they 
need to provide, reason and specific corrective 
active (if any) to be carried out 

•         If no corrective action possible then asset 
retained. This will impact on the target figure for 
capital receipts and the capital programme will 
need to be revised accordingly. 

•         Further corrective action taken and re-submitted 
to cabinet 

•         Agreed asset disposals over £25K  consulted 
on for 21 days 

•         Assets with valid consultation objections passed 
back to Cabinet for final decision 

•         Agreed assets passed to property for disposal 
  
  
Quarterly Cabinet Asset Reports: 
  
For Info Only: 
•       List of assets under £25K being disposed 

(including re-submitted assets) 
•       List of assets successfully consulted on 

  
For Cabinet Decision: 
•       List of proposed assets over £25K 
•       List of assets unsuccessfully consulted on 

  
Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 
  
Overview & Scrutiny Panel can challenge an asset 
disposal based only on the process not being followed 
correctly, via the ‘Call In’ facility. 
  

Interim Property Disposal Process 2013- 14: Apr 2012

Overall ProcessOverall Process 

+ 

Sites checked for  

potential issues 

(Covenants, restrictions 

etc)

Valuation is under 

£25K 

Asset identified for 

potential disposal on a 

quarterly basis

( Based on Corporate 

need) 

Cabinet agree 

disposal ? ( Noted)

Ward Consultation 

organised and held for 21 

days 

Prepare Report for 

Cabinet ( Decision only 

required for Assets with 

valid objections)

Unexpected 

vacancy / 
opportunity/cost 

(Making building 

non-viable)

Asset Disposed Via 

appropriate method

Offer made for 

site not on 

asset disposal

C & AMG Meet Qtrly to 

discuss and propose sites 

for disposal

Asset Retained

List of recommended 

disposals (over £25 K ) 
provided to Cabinet Qtrly

Y 

N 

Asset reviewed for 

future disposal 

when market 

improves or  

circumstances 

change

Agenda Item 4

Annex 5

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



 

ADOPTION OF A HOUSING REGENERATION ENFORCEMENT POLICY AND 
GUIDANCE DOCUMENT 
 
To: Cabinet – 19 June 2014 
 
Main Portfolio Area: Housing and Planning Services 
 
By: Richard Hopkins, Housing Regeneration Team Leader 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
Ward: All wards 
 

 
Summary: This report highlights the proposal to adopt a new 

Enforcement Policy and Guidance document for Housing 
Regeneration that sets out how the council uses its 
statutory powers to tackle poorly maintained and unsafe 
housing in the private sector. 

 
For Decision 
 

 
1.0 Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 Thanet District Council is a Local Housing Authority. As such, it has a statutory 

duty to ensure that all private sector homes in the Thanet area are maintained 
in a safe condition. The council’s Housing Regeneration Team is responsible 
for delivering this statutory function. 

 
1.2 Safety in the home environment is of utmost importance. Everyone has the 

right to live in a home which does not have a detrimental effect on their health, 
safety or well-being. To this end, the council uses a wide range of statutory 
powers to ensure that those responsible for residential premises take the 
actions needed to prevent harm from occurring. 
 

1.3 For fairness and transparency, it is important that the council is open about 
how it conducts itself by publishing an enforcement policy with associated 
guidance. This is a requirement of the Enforcement Concordat (a voluntary 
code, which around 96% of central and local government enforcement bodies 
have adopted) and the Regulators’ Code (which provides statutory guidance 
for certain regulators). 

 
2.0 The Current Situation 
 
2.1 The council’s existing Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy, which was 

last updated in 2009, is now largely out-of-date. Since 2010, the Housing 
Regeneration Team has endeavoured to innovate, make efficiencies, and 
improve the overall service to customers. Consequently, the amount of 

Agenda Item 5

Page 29



enforcement action taken by the council has increased significantly. As such, it 
is now time to publish a new policy to reflect service evolvement. 

 
2.2 A proposed Enforcement Policy and Guidance document has been authored 

and is attached in Annex 1 to this report. 
 
2.3 The draft document was subject to a four-week informal consultation. Copies 

of the document were circulated to interested parties, including: 
 

• All councillors; 

• Senior Management Team; 

• Managers and officers in related services;  

• Thanet Landlords’ Focus Group; (A council facilitated democratically 
elected group of 15 landlords and agents who meet with the council on 
a regular basis. The group, which has been running since 2008, acts as 
a consultative body representing landlords and agents working in 
Thanet.) 

 
2.4 In addition, a presentation to council managers at the Managers’ Forum held 

on 27 March 2014 explained the nature and scope of the consultation. 
 
2.5 The Thanet Landlords’ Focus Group includes representatives of the National 

Landlords Association (“NLA”) and the Southern Landlords Association 
(“SLA”). Neither association made representations.  

 
2.6  The consultation did not highlight any obvious concerns or result in any 

significant changes. 
 
3.0 Scope of Policy and Guidance 
 
3.1 The proposed Enforcement Policy and Guidance document includes the 

following content: 
 

Chapter No./Title Summary of Content 

Preface  

Chapter summaries  

Glossary  

1. Introduction Explains why the document has been authored and 
provides a brief background to the private rented 
sector in Thanet. It outlines what the term 
“enforcement” means and sets out a number of 
overarching principles 

2. Legislative 
overview 

Provides a brief overview of the legislation that may 
be used by the council when dealing with private 
sector housing. 

3. Housing Health 
and Safety Rating 
System 

Describes the Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System and explains how it is used by council 
officers to evaluate the severity of hazards in the 

Page 30



home environment. 

4. Reactive 
interventions 

Describes how the council responds to complaints 
about housing conditions. 

5. Proactive 
interventions 

Many residents cope with poor housing conditions, 
to the detriment of their health and well-being, 
without knowing how to improve their situation. This 
chapter explains how the council proactively 
attempts to identify those in need of council 
assistance.   

6. Enforcement Describes how the council uses relevant legislation 
to ensure that private sector housing is of an 
acceptable standard.  

7. Houses in multiple 
occupation (HMOs) 

Sets out the legal definition of an HMO, as 
prescribed by section 234 of the Housing Act 2004. 

8. Licensing of HMOs 
and other residential 
accommodation 

Outlines the HMO and selective licensing regimes. 

9. HMO amenity 
guidelines 

Describes how council officers assess amenity 
provision in HMOs. 

10. HMO 
management 
regulations 

Explains the additional legal duties imposed on 
managers of HMOs. 

11. Interim and final 
management orders 

Describes how the council can take over the 
management of residential premises in certain 
situations. 

12. Empty homes Explains the council’s approach to prioritising 
enforcement action in respect of empty homes. 

13. Prosecutions Outlines the council’s approach to prosecutions. 

14. Publicity Describes the council’s approach to publicity. 

15. Engagement Outlines how the council complements its 
enforcement activities by engaging with landlords 
and managing agents. 

Help and advice  

Making a complaint  

 
4.0 Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
4.1 The proposal to adopt a new Enforcement Policy and Guidance document for 

Housing Regeneration was considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 
27 May 2014.  

 
4.2 The Panel recommended that the document be adopted, subject to 

amendment. Minor revisions, as recommended by the Panel, have been made 
to the Chapter Summaries, Chapter 1 (more specific equality and diversity 

Page 31



statement), Chapter 7 (reference made to planning law/Article 4 Direction), 
Chapter 8 (revised wording) and Chapter 12 (revised wording). 

 
5.0 Options 
 
5.1 The available options are: 

• To adopt the Enforcement Policy and Guidance document; or 

• To adopt the Enforcement Policy and Guidance document subject to 
amendment(s); or 

• To not adopt the Enforcement Policy and Guidance document. 
 

6.0 Corporate Implications 
 
6.1 Financial and VAT 
 
6.1.1 The policy concerns enforcement procedures and customer relations which 

are largely already in place and do not result in additional financial 
implications. 

 
6.2 Legal 
 
6.2.1 The Regulators’ Code is a statutory code that comes from the Legislative and 

Regulatory Reform Act 2006. As stated in this report the council has also 
signed up to the Enforcement Concordat and as a result there is a duty to 
provide transparency with regard to its enforcement policies. The attached 
document updates the earlier document in accordance with this requirement. 

 
6.3 Corporate 
 
6.3.1 Ensuring that private sector housing is maintained in a safe condition links to 

the following corporate priorities: 
 

Priority 2:  We will tackle disadvantage across our district; 
Priority 4:  We will make our district a safer place to live; 
Priority 7:  We will plan for the right number and type of homes in the right 

place to create sustainable communities in the future. 
 
6.4 Equity and Equalities 
 
6.4.1 The Housing Regeneration Team is committed to supporting and promoting an 

inclusive and cohesive community able to celebrate its diversity. It endeavours 
to embed equality and diversity into everything it does and aims to provide the 
highest possible standards of service to the public at all times and in all areas. 

 
6.4.2 Following the completion of an Equality Impact Assessment, no adverse 

impacts were identified in respect of the Protected Characteristics or the aims 
of the Public Sector Duty. However, some positive impacts were identified in 
respect of Age and Disability. A copy of the assessment has been attached in 
Annex 2. 

Page 32



 
7.0 Recommendation(s) 
 
7.1 That Cabinet adopt the Enforcement Policy and Guidance document for 

Housing Regeneration in its current form. 
 
8.0 Decision Making Process 

 
8.1 This is a non-key decision. 
 
8.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel considered the proposal to adopt a new 

Enforcement Policy and Guidance document for Housing Regeneration on 27 
May 2014. 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Hopkins, Housing Regeneration Team Leader, 01843 
577402 

Reporting to: Tanya Wenham, Head of Housing Services 

 

Annex List 
 

Annex 1 Draft Enforcement Policy and Guidance document for Housing 
Regeneration 

Annex 2 Equality Impact Assessment 

 
Background Papers 
 

Title Details of where to access copy 

None. N/A 

 
Corporate Consultation Undertaken 
 

Finance Clive Bowen, External Funding Officer 

Legal Steven Boyle, Interim Legal Services Manager & Monitoring Officer 

 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 1 

 

Thanet District Council 
 

 
Housing Regeneration  

Private Sector Housing: 
Enforcement Policy and 
Guidance 
 

 
 
 
 
19 June 2014 (Draft) 

 

 

Agenda Item 5

Annex 1

Page 35



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

This page is intentionally blank 

Page 36



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 3 

 

Contents 
Preface.............................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Chapter summaries ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

Glossary ......................................................................................................................................................... 15 

Chapter 1: Introduction................................................................................................................................. 16 

Why this document? ........................................................................................................................................... 16 

Scope.................................................................................................................................................................. 16 

The private rented sector .................................................................................................................................... 16 

What do we mean by enforcement? ................................................................................................................... 17 

Visiting officers.................................................................................................................................................... 17 

Equality and diversity .......................................................................................................................................... 17 

Data protection.................................................................................................................................................... 18 

Chapter 2: Legislative overview................................................................................................................... 19 

Housing Act 2004................................................................................................................................................ 19 

Housing Act 1985................................................................................................................................................ 20 

Environmental Protection Act 1990..................................................................................................................... 21 

Building Act 1984................................................................................................................................................ 21 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990................................................................................................................. 21 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 ........................................................................... 22 

Public Health Act 1936........................................................................................................................................ 22 

Public Health Act 1961........................................................................................................................................ 22 

Law of Property Act 1925.................................................................................................................................... 22 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 .................................................................................... 22 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 .................................................................................... 23 

Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 .......................................................................................................... 23 

Health Act 2006 .................................................................................................................................................. 23 

Other sections and acts ...................................................................................................................................... 23 

Chapter 3: Housing Health and Safety Rating System.............................................................................. 24 

Principle .............................................................................................................................................................. 24 

Inspections.......................................................................................................................................................... 24 

Hazard profiles.................................................................................................................................................... 24 

Hazard assessment ............................................................................................................................................ 25 

Chapter 4: Reactive interventions ............................................................................................................... 27 

No assistance offered ......................................................................................................................................... 27 

Page 37



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Complaint Rota ................................................................................................................................................... 27 

Investigation Rota ............................................................................................................................................... 28 

High Priority ........................................................................................................................................................ 28 

Priority................................................................................................................................................................. 28 

Information gathering inspections ....................................................................................................................... 28 

Chapter 5: Proactive interventions .............................................................................................................. 29 

Your Home Your Health...................................................................................................................................... 29 

Operation Cleansweep ....................................................................................................................................... 30 

Margate Task Force............................................................................................................................................ 30 

Historically non-compliant landlords.................................................................................................................... 31 

Chapter 6: Enforcement ................................................................................................................................ 32 

Enforcement Concordat ...................................................................................................................................... 32 

The Regulators’ Code......................................................................................................................................... 32 

Statutory guidance .............................................................................................................................................. 32 

Approach to enforcement action ......................................................................................................................... 32 

Category 2 hazards............................................................................................................................................. 34 

When a tenant moves out (Improvement Notices) .............................................................................................. 34 

Charging for enforcement action......................................................................................................................... 34 

Penalties for non-compliance.............................................................................................................................. 35 

Debt recovery...................................................................................................................................................... 37 

Chapter 7: Houses in multiple occupation (HMOs).................................................................................... 38 

The standard test ................................................................................................................................................ 38 

The self-contained flat test.................................................................................................................................. 38 

The converted building test................................................................................................................................. 38 

Certain converted block of flats........................................................................................................................... 39 

HMO declarations ............................................................................................................................................... 39 

Exemptions ......................................................................................................................................................... 39 

Planning use (including Article 4 Direction)......................................................................................................... 40 

Chapter 8: Licensing of HMOs and other residential accommodation.................................................... 41 

Overview............................................................................................................................................................. 41 

Mandatory HMO licensing................................................................................................................................... 41 

Additional HMO licensing.................................................................................................................................... 41 

Selective licensing .............................................................................................................................................. 42 

HMO and selective licensing fees....................................................................................................................... 43 

Who can apply for a licence?.............................................................................................................................. 44 

Licence applications............................................................................................................................................ 44 

Page 38



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 5 

 

Validation of licence applications ........................................................................................................................ 45 

Assessment of licence applications .................................................................................................................... 46 

Refusal to grant a licence ................................................................................................................................... 47 

Proposal to grant a licence ................................................................................................................................. 47 

Granting of a licence ........................................................................................................................................... 48 

Duration of a licence ........................................................................................................................................... 48 

Public registers of licences ................................................................................................................................. 48 

Property inspections ........................................................................................................................................... 49 

Variation of a licence........................................................................................................................................... 49 

Revocation of a licence....................................................................................................................................... 49 

Temporary exemption from licensing .................................................................................................................. 50 

Penalties for non-compliance.............................................................................................................................. 51 

Chapter 9: HMO amenity guidelines ............................................................................................................ 53 

HMO licensing..................................................................................................................................................... 53 

Prescribed amenity standards............................................................................................................................. 53 

Local HMO amenity guidelines ........................................................................................................................... 54 

Non-licensable HMOs ......................................................................................................................................... 54 

Chapter 10: HMO management regulations................................................................................................ 55 

Overview............................................................................................................................................................. 55 

Enforcement........................................................................................................................................................ 55 

Chapter 11: Interim and final management orders .................................................................................... 57 

Interim management orders................................................................................................................................ 57 

Final management orders ................................................................................................................................... 58 

General approach to IMOs and FMOs ................................................................................................................ 58 

Chapter 12: Empty homes ............................................................................................................................ 59 

Empty property complaints ................................................................................................................................. 59 

Prioritising action................................................................................................................................................. 59 

Enforcement........................................................................................................................................................ 61 

Chapter 13: Prosecutions ............................................................................................................................. 62 

Interviews under caution ..................................................................................................................................... 62 

Code for Crown Prosecutors............................................................................................................................... 62 

General approach to prosecutions...................................................................................................................... 62 

Chapter 14: Publicity ..................................................................................................................................... 63 

Prosecutions ....................................................................................................................................................... 63 

Rent Repayment Orders ..................................................................................................................................... 63 

Page 39



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Other newsworthy interventions.......................................................................................................................... 63 

Chapter 15: Engagement .............................................................................................................................. 64 

Thanet Landlords’ Focus Group.......................................................................................................................... 64 

Annual Landlord Event........................................................................................................................................ 64 

Kent Landlord Accreditation Scheme.................................................................................................................. 65 

Help and advice ............................................................................................................................................. 66 

Making a complaint ....................................................................................................................................... 66 

Document history .......................................................................................................................................... 66 

Page 40



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 7 

 

Preface 

As the Local Housing Authority, Thanet District Council has a duty to ensure that all private sector 
homes in Thanet are maintained in a safe condition. 

From a public health perspective, health and safety in the home environment is extremely 
important. As such, the council is committed to improving housing conditions in the private sector. 
It will use every available statutory power to achieve that aim, but only in a fair, transparent, and 
consistent way. 

This document is intended to provide a comprehensive guide to the way in which the council 
approaches its regulatory responsibilities. It does this by explaining what legislative powers are 
available and how they are applied. It is both a guidance document and an enforcement policy. 

Chapter summaries have been provided at the beginning of this document to serve as a quick 
reference guide to key information. 

Page 41



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Chapter summaries 

There are 15 chapters in this document. Each chapter is summarised below, highlighting key 
information and policy positions. 

Chapter 1: Introduction 

This chapter explains why this document has been published and provides a brief background to 
the private rented sector in Thanet. It outlines what the term “enforcement” means and sets out a 
number of overarching principles. 

Key points 

o This document applies to all forms of private sector housing, including homes that are 
rented from private landlords and registered social landlords (housing associations), and 
those that are owner-occupied. 

o The council will always make it clear whether a request to take action is advisory in nature 
or a legal requirement that must be complied with. 

o Visiting officers from the Housing Regeneration Team are authorised to enter premises and 
every officer carries a photographic identification card and a statement of authorisation. 

o As far as is reasonably possible, everyone has equal access to all our services. 

o The council will only share confidential information about a person if consent has been 
given or if it is required to do so by law. 

Chapter 2: Legislative overview 

This chapter provides a brief overview of the legislation that may be used by the council when 
dealing with private sector housing. 

Key points 

o Since April 2006, the primary legislative tool for dealing with private sector housing 
conditions has been the Housing Act 2004. 

o The Housing Act 2004 introduced the Housing Health and Safety Rating System as the 
prescribed means of assessing housing conditions. 

Chapter 3: Housing Health and Safety Rating System 

This chapter describes the Housing Health and Safety Rating System and explains how it is used 
by council officers to evaluate the severity of hazards in the home environment. 

Key points 

o The system’s underlying principle is that “Any residential premises should provide a safe 
and healthy environment for any potential occupier or visitor”. 

o There are 29 potential hazards. 

o A hazard assessment will result in a hazard band ranging from A to J. 

o Hazards with a banding of A, B or C are deemed to be Category 1 hazards; hazards with a 
banding of D to J are considered to be Category 2 hazards.  

o Category 1 hazards are the most severe and the council has a mandatory duty to take 
enforcement action to deal with them.  

Page 42



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 9 

 

o The council is empowered to take action in respect of Category 2 hazards, but is not duty 
bound to do so. 

Chapter 4: Reactive interventions 

This chapter describes how the council responds to complaints about housing conditions. 

Key points 

o Housing complaints are normally dealt with in one of four ways. 

o A “Complaint Rota” system is used by the council to deal with most housing complaints. 
Complainants must complete a service request form to confirm their details, what their 
housing problems are, and that they have tried, without success, to persuade the person 
responsible (usually their landlord) to undertake remedial works. Before a visit takes place, 
both the owner and occupier of the dwelling concerned will be notified, in writing, of the 
date and time of the intended inspection. The council will endeavour to make a first visit 
within one to three weeks; however, this is not always possible in times of high demand. A 
first inspection is always guaranteed to take place within ten weeks of a service request 
being made. 

o For complaints made by a person not residing in the dwelling concerned, the council 
operates an “Investigation Rota” system. On allocated days (at least one every month), two 
officers will attempt to visit the dwellings about which representations have been made, and 
attempt to identify whether advice, assistance or enforcement action is required. 

o If a housing complaint is deemed to be a “High Priority” owing to there being an imminent 
and serious risk to the safety of any person, the council will make a first response as soon 
as possible, but in all cases within two working days. 

o If a housing complaint is deemed to be a “Priority” owing to there being a serious risk to the 
safety of any person, the council will make a first response as soon as possible, but in all 
cases within ten working days. 

Chapter 5: Proactive interventions 

Many residents cope with poor housing conditions, to the detriment of their health and well-being, 
without knowing how to improve their situation. This chapter explains how the council proactively 
attempts to identify those in need of council assistance.   

Key points 

o Proactive initiatives are dependent on available resources and can change at any time. 

o Led by the Housing Regeneration Team, the council’s Your Home Your Health initiative is a 
multi-agency referral process based on informal housing inspections. Participation on the 
part of residents is voluntary and visits can lead to a range of referrals being made to the 
council and other organisations. The initiative is a holistic approach to tackling poor housing 
conditions with the added benefit of being able to offer residents help with their health and 
social care needs. 

o The council’s Operation Cleansweep initiative is a district-wide multi-agency initiative that 
delivers Environmental Action Days. Target areas vary and are dependent on identified 
need, but can include housing estates, high streets, and industrial estates. Actions that can 
be taken during an Environmental Action Day are wide-ranging and may include a general 
review of housing conditions. 

o The Margate Task Force is a multi-agency initiative that was set up to tackle the multi-
faceted problems faced in the two electoral wards of Margate Central and Cliftonville West. 
These wards contain the three most deprived areas in South-East England according to the 

Page 43



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

English Indices of Deprivation 2010. The Housing Regeneration Team is an integral part of 
the Task Force and is therefore involved in many of its proactive interventions. 

o The council may proactively target a particular landlord or managing agent if they are 
repeatedly associated with poor quality housing. 

Chapter 6: Enforcement 

This chapter describes how the council uses relevant legislation to ensure that private sector 
housing is of an acceptable standard. 

Key points 

o The council is a signatory to the Enforcement Concordat, which is a voluntary code that 
sets out the principles of good enforcement. 

o Unless the conditions set out in the bullet point immediately below apply, the council will 
normally give the owner or landlord of defective premises the opportunity to carry out 
repairs and/or improvements on an informal basis. Such opportunities are strictly time-
limited. 

o The council may take statutory enforcement action without resorting to informal measures 
in the following circumstances:  

� If, in the case of a Complaint Rota inspection, the pre-arranged inspection takes 
place and there is no attendance by the landlord (or his agent) and there is no 
record of any other response being made to the appointment letter. 

� When the council has a duty to take action. 

� When an emergency situation arises and there is an imminent risk of serious harm. 

� When the property concerned should be licensed as an HMO or under a selective 
licensing scheme, but is not so licensed. 

� When the property concerned is operated by a historically non-compliant landlord. 

o When appropriate to do so, the council tends towards taking enforcement action in respect 
of Category 2 hazards. 

o The enforcement of Improvement Notices served under the Housing Act 2004 will not 
normally be discontinued in the event of the tenant moving out. 

o The council will make a charge for taking certain types of enforcement action, including: 

� The service of an Improvement Notice (subject to the bullet point below). 

� The making of a Prohibition Order. 

� The taking of Emergency Remedial Action. 

� The making of an Emergency Prohibition Order. 

� The making of a Demolition Order. 

o While there is a policy of charging for Improvement Notices, the council has decided to 
recognise notice recipients who fully comply with the notices served upon them. Therefore, 
the charge will be waived if a notice recipient completes the remedial works and/or actions 
specified in an Improvement Notice to an acceptable standard within the timescales stated. 

o Failing to comply with a statutory notice served, or order made, by the council’s Housing 
Regeneration Team may lead to prosecution or the issuing of a simple caution. Fine levels 
are dependent on the type of offence committed. 

o The council may use its discretionary power to carry out works-in-default when a statutory 
notice is not complied with. 

Page 44



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 11 

 

o The council will seek to recover all debts owed as soon as possible, and where appropriate, 
may use its power to enforce the sale of a property as a means of recovering all monies 
owed. 

Chapter 7: Houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) 

This chapter sets out the legal definition of an HMO, as prescribed by section 234 of the Housing 
Act 2004. 

Key points 

o There are four types of HMO, each with its own test, including: 

� The standard test (bedsits, shared houses, etc.). 

� The self-contained flat test (similar to the standard test, but when the HMO is wholly 
contained within a flat). 

� The converted building test (converted buildings containing one or more non-self-
contained flats). 

� Converted blocks of flats (older, usually pre-1991, self-contained flat conversions, in 
which less than two-thirds of the flats are owner-occupied). 

o The council can declare, by notice, that a property is an HMO. 

o Certain buildings are exempt from being classified as HMOs under the Housing Act 2004. 

o Whether a property can, in principle, be used as an HMO is a matter for the planning 
regime and the Planning Department. Any property operating as an HMO could be subject 
to planning enforcement action if it does not have lawful use as an HMO. 

Chapter 8: Licensing of HMOs and other residential accommodation 

This chapter outlines the HMO and selective licensing regimes. 

Key points 

o The council enforces the mandatory HMO licensing scheme, which applies to all local 
authority areas in England. Certain HMOs comprised of three or more storeys and occupied 
by five or more persons must be licensed with the council. 

o The council introduced a selective licensing scheme in certain parts of Cliftonville West and 
Margate Central in 2011. The scheme requires all types of privately rented accommodation 
within the designated area to be licensed (unless subject to exemption). The designation 
was made to improve housing conditions and management, tackle anti-social behaviour, 
increase housing demand and reduce overcrowding. 

o The council charges a fee for all new and renewal licence applications. The fees payable 
are dependent on the type and size of the premises concerned. All licence fees are non-
refundable. 

o Licence applications will only be accepted if the appropriate application form has been fully 
completed, the required supporting documents provided, and the correct fee paid. 
Incomplete licence applications may be rejected if requests for further information or 
payment are not satisfied within 28 days.  

o Only a fit and proper person may be a licence holder or named manager. 

o A licence application may be refused if the council is not satisfied that suitable management 
arrangements are in place. 

o Once the council is satisfied that a valid licence application has been made, it will issue a 
proposed licence to all relevant parties. Relevant persons may make representations to the 

Page 45



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

council about the terms of the licence within 21 days. All representations received will be 
carefully reviewed by the council. 

o After having dealt with any representations, the council will issue a final licence. Licences 
may be granted for a period of up to five years. 

o Once granted, licences are not transferrable between licence holders. Therefore, if a 
property is sold, the new owner will need to make arrangements for a new licence 
application to be made. 

o The details of all licensed properties and licence holders are placed on a public register. 

o All licensed properties will be subject to routine inspection by council officers. 

o A person operating a licensable property may apply to the council for a three-month 
temporary exemption from licensing. The council will only agree to serve a Temporary 
Exemption Notice if the person proposes to take lawful and appropriate steps that will lead 
to the property no longer requiring a licence. 

o A person who operates an unlicensed property without reasonable excuse is liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding £20,000. A person who breaches the 
conditions of their licence without reasonable excuse is liable on summary conviction to a 
fine not exceeding £5,000 per breach. This fine level is increased to £20,000 if the breach 
relates to the over-occupation of a mandatory licensable HMO. All fine levels will become 
unlimited in the near future (anticipated to be some time in 2014). 

o A “notice to quit” under section 21 of the Housing Act 1988 cannot be given in respect of 
residential premises which should be licensed, but are not so licensed. 

o The council may exercise their power to apply for a Rent Repayment Order (“RRO”) in 
respect of an unlicensed property. An RRO is an order made by the Residential Property 
Tribunal requiring the landlord to repay any housing benefit paid in respect of the property 
in the previous year. 

Chapter 9: HMO amenity guidelines 

This chapter describes how council officers assess amenity provision in HMOs. 

Key points 

o For licensable HMOs, the government has issued prescribed amenity standards which the 
council must enforce. 

o The council also has its own HMO amenity guidelines that are applicable to all licensable 
HMOs. These, together with the governments prescribed amenity standards, are used by 
council officers to evaluate every HMO licence application. 

Chapter 10: HMO management regulations 

This chapter explains the additional legal duties imposed on managers of HMOs. 

Key points 

o The government has issued two sets of management regulations that apply to all HMOs 
defined by the Housing Act 2004. 

o All managers of HMOs must comply with the regulations or face prosecution and fines of up 
to £5,000 for every breach of the regulations for which they have no reasonable excuse. 

o The HMO management regulations apply to all licensable and non-licensable HMOs. 

 

Page 46



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 13 

 

Chapter 11: Interim and final management orders 

This chapter describes how the council can take over the management of residential premises in 
certain situations. 

Key points 

o In certain prescribed circumstances, the council can make an Interim Management Order 
(“IMO”) in respect of a residential property. 

o An IMO, which can last for up to a year, allows the council to step in and take control of a 
property that is causing severe problems for its residents and/or neighbours. While the 
council does not obtain any interest in the property concerned, it becomes responsible for 
its proper management and for ensuring that any immediate health, safety or welfare 
concerns are dealt with as soon as possible. 

o If intervention is needed for a period longer than a year, the council can, in certain 
prescribed circumstances, make a Final Management Order (“FMO”). FMOs can last for up 
to five years. 

o The council considers the making of an IMO or FMO to be a last resort and will always 
endeavour to use other means to secure necessary improvements before making such an 
order. 

Chapter 12: Empty homes 

This chapter explains the council’s approach to prioritising enforcement action in respect of empty 
homes. 

Key points 

o The council is committed to tackling empty homes whenever possible. 

o In the first instance, informal attempts will normally be made to encourage owners to bring 
their properties back into use. 

o With limited resources, the council must decide which empty properties are the most 
problematic. As such, every empty property is subject to a priority assessment resulting in a 
High, Medium, Low or Minimal rating. 

o Any empty residential property given a High rating will usually be recommended for 
enforcement action should informal intervention be unsuccessful. Properties given a 
Medium rating may also be considered for such action. 

o Properties given a Low or Minimal rating are unlikely to be subject to enforcement action 
unless there are particular circumstances that render such action in the public interest. 

o The council will consider using tough measures to bring empty homes back into use, 
including the making of Compulsory Purchase Orders. 

Chapter 13: Prosecutions 

This chapter outlines the council’s approach to prosecutions. 

Key points 

o Whenever appropriate, the council will prosecute those who fail to comply with the law 
relating to private sector housing.  

o If the council suspects that an offence has occurred, it may decide to offer the suspect an 
opportunity to attend an interview under caution in accordance with the Police and Criminal 
Evidence Act 1984. An interview is an opportunity for the suspect to provide an explanation 
of the facts. 

Page 47



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

o The council may not offer the opportunity to attend an interview under caution if it is of the 
opinion that the suspect cannot provide a reasonable excuse. 

o Prosecutions will only be pursued if there is sufficient evidence of an offence and it is in 
public interest to prosecute. 

Chapter 14: Publicity 

This chapter describes the council’s approach to publicity. 

Key points 

o The council believes that publicising successful enforcement actions, such as prosecutions, 
sends out a clear and strong message that discourages others from disregarding the law.  

o Before issuing a press release or undertaking any other form of publicity, the council will 
carefully consider whether it is appropriate to do so. 

Chapter 15: Engagement 

This chapter outlines how the council complements its enforcement activities by engaging with 
landlords and managing agents. 

Key points 

o The council recognises that engaging with landlords and managing agents on an informal 
basis is an invaluable way of raising standards and promoting good quality private sector 
accommodation. 

o The council facilitates the Thanet Landlords’ Focus Group, which is a representative body 
comprised of 15 democratically elected landlords and managing agents. It meets three 
times a year with the purpose of increasing the level of understanding and communication 
between the council and local private sector landlords and managing agents. 

o The council organises an annual Landlord Event in conjunction with the Thanet Landlords’ 
Focus Group. Events usually include a number of presentations on topical subjects. 

o The council is a partner authority which supports and promotes the Kent Landlord 
Accreditation Scheme.  

Page 48



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 15 

 

Glossary 
 

the Act   Housing Act 2004 

the council  Thanet District Council 

CPO   Compulsory Purchase Order 

FMO    Final Management Order 

Focus Group  Thanet Landlords’ Focus Group 

HHSRS  Housing Health and Safety Rating System 

HMO   House in multiple occupation 

IMO   Interim Management Order 

KLAS   Kent Landlord Accreditation Scheme 

LHA   Local Housing Authority 

RSL   Registered Social Landlord 

SI   Statutory Instrument 

UKLAP  UK Landlord Accreditation Partnership 

the 85 Act  Housing Act 1985 

 

Throughout this document are references to the Residential Property Tribunal. While this tribunal is 
still commonly known as such, it has changed its proper title and is now the First-tier tribunal – 
Property Chamber (Residential Property). 

Page 49



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Chapter 1: Introduction 

Why this document? 

1. Thanet District Council is a Local Housing Authority (“LHA”). As such, it has a statutory 
duty to ensure that all private sector homes in the Thanet area are maintained in a safe 
condition. The council’s Housing Regeneration Team is responsible for delivering this 
statutory function. 

2. Safety in the home environment is a key priority for the council. Everyone has the right 
to live in a home which does not have a detrimental effect on their health, safety or 
well-being. To this end, the council uses a wide range of statutory powers to ensure 
that those responsible for residential premises take the actions needed to prevent harm 
from occurring.  

3. For fairness and transparency, it is important that the council is open about how it 
conducts itself. Therefore, this document provides an overview of the current law 
relating to private sector housing and sets out how the council approaches its 
regulatory duties. It also outlines how the council uses proactive initiatives to 
complement its statutory functions. Essentially, this document details how the council 
endeavours to keep private sector homes in an acceptable and safe condition. It is both 
a guidance document and an enforcement policy. 

Scope 

4. The council, as the LHA for Thanet, is responsible for ensuring the safety of residents 
in all forms of private sector housing, including those who are: 

o Owner-occupiers; 

o Tenants of Registered Social Landlords (“RSLs”); and 

o Tenants of private sector landlords. 

5. However, the vast majority of the work undertaken by the Housing Regeneration Team 
relates to the private rented sector. 

6. The scope of this document does not extend to council owned housing. The law 
relating to these properties is different. For more information about council homes, 
please contact East Kent Housing by telephone on (01843) 577262 or by email at 
thanet@eastkenthousing.org.uk. East Kent Housing was set up in 2011 by the four 
councils of Thanet, Canterbury, Dover and Shepway to provide a more efficient and 
effective housing service. 

The private rented sector 

7. The private rented sector is growing. Official figures from the 2011 Census suggest that 
the private rented sector now accounts for 15% of all homes in England and Wales, up 
from 9% in 2001.   

8. In 2010, the council published the results of its own private sector house condition 
survey. It revealed that of the 64,020 homes in Thanet, more than a quarter were 
privately rented. Clearly, Thanet has a large private rented sector when compared 
against the national picture. In some severely deprived neighbourhoods, particularly in 
Margate, the percentage of homes in the private sector reaches 70-90% in many 
roads.  

9. Having higher than average levels of private rented property presents a number of 
challenges for the council, as the housing conditions in this sector are generally worse 
than in other sectors. 

Page 50



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 17 

 

10. The demand for assistance from the Housing Regeneration Team is high. It received 
1698 service requests in the 2013-14 financial year. While not all housing complaints 
are justified, a significant number require enforcement action. 

What do we mean by enforcement? 

11. The term “enforcement” describes a wide range of activities carried out by the council‘s 
Housing Regeneration Team in order to secure compliance with legislation. These 
include: 

o Providing advice and guidance to help people comply with the law; 

o Investigations, whether proactively or in response to a complaint, with a view to 
establishing whether intervention is required; 

o Informal and formal inspections of land and premises;  

o Service of statutory notices and the making of orders; 

o Prosecutions and the issuing of simple cautions; 

o Carrying out works-in-default when a person has failed to take action; and 

o Licensing of houses in multiple occupation and other residential accommodation. 

12. The council is committed to improving the private sector housing stock in Thanet and 
will encourage property owners to make improvements whenever possible. However, 
the council will always make it absolutely clear what is simply advice aimed at 
achieving better than minimum standards and what is a legal requirement. 

Visiting officers 

13. Visiting officers from the Housing Regeneration Team are authorised to enter premises 
by the proper officer of the council. Every officer carries a photographic identification 
card and a statement of authorisation which confirms under which legislative provisions 
he/she may enter premises. The photo ID will be shown at every visit and the 
statement of authorisation can be viewed on demand. 

14. If there is any doubt as to the identity of any visitor claiming to be an officer of the 
council’s Housing Regeneration Team, enquiries should be made directly with the team 
on 01843 577437 before allowing access to the premises.  

Equality and diversity 

15. The council is committed to supporting and promoting an inclusive and cohesive 
community able to celebrate its diversity. It endeavours to embed equality and diversity 
into everything it does and aims to provide the highest possible standards of service to 
the public at all times and in all areas.  

16. Equal access to services, as far as reasonably possible, is standard practice. No 
person will be discriminated against or receive a lesser service on the basis of sex; 
disability; race, ethnic or national identity; marital status; sexuality or sexual identity; 
religious or political beliefs; or age. 

17. This document describes a range of interventions aimed at safeguarding and improving 
the health, safety and well-being of people living in the private sector. In developing the 
policies and guidance contained herein, no adverse impacts associated with the 
Protected Characteristics or the aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty were identified. 
However, there are positive impacts in respect of some of the Protected 
Characteristics, notably age and disability. An Equality Impact Analysis has been 
completed and is available on request from the council. 

Page 51



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Data protection 

18. Under the Data Protection Act 1988, the council has a legal duty to protect any 
personal information it collects. The services provided by the Housing Regeneration 
Team require it to collect and use personal data on a regular basis. In normal 
circumstances, personal information about an individual will only be shared when the 
person concerned has given consent to the sharing of their information. However, there 
are some situations where the law requires the council to share information without 
consent. For example, the Housing Regeneration Team is required by law to maintain 
a number of public registers that include the names and addresses of relevant 
landlords and agents. 

19. More information about data protection can be obtained from the council’s website or 
from the Information Commissioner’s Office at www.ico.org.uk. 

Page 52



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 19 

 

Chapter 2: Legislative overview 

20. The council can use a wide range of legislative powers to ensure that private sector 
housing is maintained in a safe condition. The most relevant legislation is outlined 
below. Please note: the descriptions provide only a brief overview. Reference should 
be made to the enactments themselves if more detailed information is required. 

Housing Act 2004 

21. Since April 2006, the Housing Act 2004 (“the Act”) has been the primary legislative tool 
for dealing with private sector housing conditions. Regulations made under the Act also 
play a significant role. The Act is divided into a number of parts, of which the following 
are most relevant in this context: 

Part 1: Housing conditions  

22. This Part introduced a new methodology for the assessment of housing conditions and 
replaced the previous housing fitness standard. It introduced the concept of Category 1 
and Category 2 hazards, and regulations made under section 2 prescribed the Housing 
Health and Safety Rating System (“HHSRS”) as being the method for assessing the 
severity of hazards. 

23. Category 1 hazards are the most serious and likely to cause harm to health and/or 
safety. Where the council has identified a Category 1 hazard it is under a mandatory 
duty to take the appropriate enforcement action. Where it has identified a Category 2 
hazard it has a discretionary power to take such action. 

24. This Part also sets out the available enforcement options for dealing with Category 1 
and 2 hazards. They include: 

o The service of an Improvement Notice requiring the taking of remedial action 
within a specified time period. Such notices can, on service, be suspended to 
come into effect at a later date or at a point in time when a specified event takes 
place. 

o The making of a Prohibition Order prohibiting or restricting some or all uses of all 
or part of a residential premises. Such orders may also be suspended on service. 

o The service of a Hazard Awareness Notice highlighting that there are hazards 
existing on a residential premises which should be considered for further action. 
Such a notice does not place a legal obligation on the recipient to carry out 
works. 

o The taking of Emergency Remedial Action by the council where there is a hazard 
which involves an imminent risk of serious harm. This action can only be taken in 
respect of Category 1 hazards. 

o The making of an Emergency Prohibition Order prohibiting or restricting some or 
all uses of all or part of a residential premises with immediate effect. Such an 
order can only be made in respect of Category 1 hazards involving an imminent 
risk of serious harm. 

o The making of a Demolition Order under the Housing Act 1985 (“the 85 Act”). 
This option is only available for residential premises containing Category 1 
hazards and is not available in respect of listed buildings. 

o The declaring of a Clearance Area under the 85 Act requiring the clearing of all 
buildings in a specified area. This option is only available when all the residential 
premises in the area concerned contain Category 1 hazards. 

Page 53



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Part 2: Licensing of houses in multiple occupation 

25. This Part required the council to introduce a mandatory licensing regime for certain 
types of HMOs. The mandatory scheme, which came into force in April 2006, requires 
HMOs which are comprised of three or more storeys and occupied by five or more 
persons to be licensed. HMOs defined by section 257 of the Act, namely buildings 
converted entirely into self-contained flats which fulfill certain criteria relating to tenure 
and conversion standards, are excluded from the mandatory licensing regime. 
Mandatory licensing of HMOs was introduced to improve physical conditions and 
management standards in higher risk HMOs. 

26. This Part also empowers local housing authorities (“LHAs”) to introduce “additional 
HMO licensing” schemes to extend the scope of mandatory licensing. This allows LHAs 
to introduce the requirement to licence other types of HMOs in all or part of their area.  

Part 3: Selective licensing of other residential accommodation 

27. This Part empowers LHAs to introduce “selective licensing” schemes in all or part of 
their area requiring all private rented accommodation to be licensed, unless it is subject 
to exemption. An area may be designated if it is, or may become, an area of low 
housing demand and/or it has a significant and persistent problem with anti-social 
behaviour where the inaction of private landlords is a contributory factor. 

Part 4: Additional control provisions in relation to residential accommodation 

28. This Part empowers the council to make Interim and Final Management Orders and 
take over the management of privately-rented residential premises. Such orders can be 
made when a residential premises is not licensed and there is no prospect of it being 
licensed, or when there is some other management problem requiring council 
intervention. Interim Management Orders can be in force for up to a year, whereas 
Final Management Orders can last up to five years. 

29. This Part also provides for Interim and Final Empty Dwelling Management Orders 
(“EDMOs”). EDMOs are similar to Interim and Final Management Orders, but relate to 
empty properties and are designed to ensure that dwellings become and stay 
occupied. 

30. This Part also provides for the service of overcrowding notices in respect of HMOs that 
are not required to be licensed. 

Part 7: Supplementary and final provisions  

31. This Part includes a number of provisions, such as the definition of an HMO. It also 
empowers the council to enforce the HMO management regulations, to authorise 
officers to enter premises, and to require documents to be produced. 

Housing Act 1985 

32. While many of the provisions in the 85 Act relating to private sector housing have been 
repealed, some still remain. As mentioned above, the 85 Act empowers the making of 
Demolition Orders and the declaring of Clearance Areas. The provisions of Part X 
concerning statutory overcrowding remain in force. A dwelling is statutorily 
overcrowded when the number of persons sleeping in it is such as to contravene the 
room or space standard. These standards are described in Part X of the 85 Act. 

33. Section 17 of the 85 Act concerns the compulsory acquisition of land or property for 
housing purposes. This power may be used to acquire under-used or ineffectively used 
land or property by means of a compulsory purchase order (“CPO”). Before taking such 
action, the council must show that there is a general housing need in the area and that 
a quantitative or qualitative housing gain will be made by making the order. CPOs must 
be approved by the Secretary of State. 

Page 54



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 21 

 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 

34. Matters which may amount to a statutory nuisance are set out in section 79(1) of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. Statutory nuisances must be either “prejudicial to 
health or a nuisance”. Prejudicial to health is defined as meaning “injurious, or likely to 
cause injury, to health”. Nuisance is not defined by statute. If the council is satisfied 
that a statutory nuisance exists or is likely to occur or recur, it must serve an 
Abatement Notice. 

Building Act 1984 

35. Section 59 relates to the drainage of buildings. Where drainage serving any building is 
defective, insufficient, or prejudicial to health or a nuisance, the council may, by notice, 
require the owner of the building to remedy the situation. 

36. If a water closet in a residential building is in such a state as to be prejudicial to health 
or a nuisance and cannot be adequately repaired, the council may, by notice under 
section 64, require the owner of the building to reconstruct the water closet. 

37. Section 76 makes provision for defective premises which are in such a state as to be 
prejudicial to health or a nuisance. If, by following the procedures set out in section 80 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, there would be an unreasonable delay in 
remedying the defective state, the council may, after having given nine days’ warning 
to the relevant person, enter the premises to carry out the works required to remedy 
the defective condition. 

38. Under section 77, the council can apply to the Magistrates’ Court for an order requiring 
the owner of a dangerous building to either make the building safe or (if the owner 
chooses) demolish it. If the owner fails to comply with the order, the council can carry 
out the works-in-default and recover the reasonable expenses incurred in doing so 
from the owner. In emergency situations, the council can (without obtaining a court 
order) take immediate steps to make safe a dangerous building under section 78. In 
such circumstances, the council must, if possible, attempt to give prior notice to the 
owner and occupier. Again, reasonable expenses can be recovered from the owner. 
Although such intervention may concern private sector housing, the council’s Building 
Control section is responsible for action under sections 77 and 78. 

39. Section 79 concerns ruinous and dilapidated buildings and neglected sites. If a building 
is, by reason of its ruinous or dilapidated condition, seriously detrimental to the 
amenities of the neighbourhood, the council may serve a notice requiring the owner to 
carry out remedial works or (if the owner chooses) demolish the building. If the owner 
fails to comply with the notice, the council can carry out the works-in-default and 
recover the reasonable expenses incurred in doing so from the owner. This section 
also makes provision for dealing with any debris resulting from the collapse or 
demolition of a building, which by its nature is seriously detrimental to the amenities of 
the neighbourhood. If this condition is met, the council may serve a notice on the owner 
requiring the clearance of the site. As above, if the owner fails to comply with the 
notice, the council can carry out the works-in-default and recover the reasonable 
expenses incurred in doing so from the owner. 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

40. Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides the council with the 
power to deal with land which adversely affects the amenity of an area. “Land” includes 
buildings. A notice may be served under this section requiring the owner or occupier of 
the land to take steps as is necessary to remedy the condition of the land. Such notices 
set out the steps that need to be taken, and the time within which they must be carried 
out. The council also has the power to undertake the works themselves and to recover 
the costs from the landowner. 

Page 55



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

41. Section 226 concerns the compulsory acquisition of land or property to allow 
development, redevelopment or improvement to take place. If compulsory acquisition 
will contribute to the promotion or improvement of economic and/or social and/or 
environmental wellbeing, the council may, in the public interest, make a CPO. CPOs 
must be approved by the Secretary of State. 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

42. Section 47 provides for the compulsory purchase of listed buildings in disrepair. CPOs 
under this section are made to ensure that listed buildings (buildings deemed to be of 
special architectural and historical interest) are properly preserved. CPOs must be 
approved by the Secretary of State. However, before the council can compulsorily 
purchase a listed building in disrepair it must first give the owner an opportunity to carry 
out the required works by serving a repairs notice. If an owner demolishes a listed 
building following receipt of a repairs notice, the site may still be compulsorily 
purchased by the council. Although such action may be relevant to the safety of 
residents in private sector housing, the council’s Planning Department is responsible 
for intervention under this legislative provision. 

Public Health Act 1936 

43. If a water closet provided in residential premises is in such a state as to be prejudicial 
to health or a nuisance, and it can, without reconstruction, be put into a satisfactory 
condition, the council may serve notice under section 45 requiring the owner or 
occupier to repair or cleanse the water closet as necessary. 

Public Health Act 1961 

44. Section 17 concerns defective and blocked drainage. If it appears to the council that a 
drain, private sewer, water-closet, waste pipe or soil pipe is not sufficiently maintained 
and kept in good repair, and can be sufficiently repaired at a cost not exceeding £250, 
it may, after giving seven days’ notice, carry out the necessary repairs and recover the 
expenses incurred from the person(s) concerned, namely the owner(s) or occupier. 

45. In cases where the drain, private sewer, water-closet, waste pipe or soil pipe is stopped 
up, the council may, by notice, require the owner or occupier to remedy the problem 
within 48 hours. If such a notice is not complied with, the council may undertake the 
works-in-default and recover the costs incurred in doing so. 

Law of Property Act 1925 

46. In cases where the council is owed monies, as a result of the council undertaking 
works-in-default under relevant legislation, section 103 of the Law of Property Act 1925 
may be used as a means by which to recover the debt. Under this legislation, the debt 
may, under certain circumstances, be registered as a first charge with HM Land 
Registry. Such a charge would take precedence over any mortgage. The council may 
then, should the owner fail to pay the debt within a specified timescale, enforce the sale 
of the property to recover the monies owed. 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

47. When the council requires information relating to the ownership of land in connection 
with the discharge of its statutory duties, it may, by notice under section 16, require 
certain persons to provide information within a specified timescale. In connection with 
the land concerned, such information can be demanded from any one or more of the 
following: the occupier, freeholder, mortgagee, lessee, any person receiving the rent 
(either directly or indirectly), and any managing or letting agent. 

Page 56



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 23 

 

48. If a water, gas or electricity supply to a dwelling has been cut off, or is likely to be cut 
off, owing to the non-payment of a bill by the owner, the council may, under section 33, 
step in and make arrangements with the supplier to ensure that the supply is 
reconnected and/or maintained. 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

49. Sections 29 to 32 relate to the protection of buildings. If a building is unoccupied, or the 
occupier is temporarily absent, and it is insecure or likely to become a danger to public 
health, the council may take action to ensure that it is adequately secured to prevent 
unauthorised entry and made safe. The council can recover the costs from taking such 
action from the owner of the building. 

Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 

50. The council is under a duty to ensure, as far as is practicable, that its district is kept 
free from rats and mice. If residential premises are in such a condition as to attract rats 
or mice, the council may, by notice, require appropriate treatment to be undertaken 
and/or require remedial works to ensure that harbourage is no longer provided. For 
example, such a notice may require the removal of rubbish and furniture that has been 
discarded in the external grounds of a privately-owned property which has or is likely to 
attract rats and mice. 

Health Act 2006 

51. On 01 July 2007, England became smoke-free. Under the Health Act 2006, it became 
an offence to smoke in public places or places of work which are enclosed or 
substantially enclosed. Furthermore it is an offence not to display no-smoking signs in 
smoke-free premises. It is also an offence to be a manager of smoke-free premises 
and allow persons to smoke in them. 

52. For the purposes of private sector housing, the common parts of HMOs and the 
common parts of buildings containing flats are deemed to be smoke-free premises. 

Other sections and acts 

53. The above-mentioned provisions are those most used by the council; however, the list 
is not exhaustive. The council may use other legislative powers, where authorised to do 
so, if it ensures a more appropriate solution to any given situation. 

Page 57



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Chapter 3: Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System 

Principle 

54. The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (“HHSRS”) is the prescribed means of 
assessing housing conditions under the Act. It allows an inspector to evaluate the 
potential risks to health and safety from any deficiency found within a dwelling. 

55. The HHSRS is not a standard; it is a risk-based assessment procedure. Regulations 
made under the Act, namely The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (England) 
Regulations 2005 (SI 2005/3208), set out the principles of the system. However, 
statutory guidance issued under section 9 of the Act provides a more detailed 
explanation. The guidance, entitled: Housing Health and Safety Rating System – 
Operating Guidance, is the main document used by inspectors. It can be downloaded 
from the GOV.UK website for free. 

56. The underlying principle of the HHSRS is that: 

“Any residential premises should provide a safe and healthy environment for any 
potential occupier or visitor.” 

57. To satisfy this principle, a dwelling should be designed, constructed and maintained 
with non-hazardous materials and should be free from both unnecessary and avoidable 
hazards. 

Inspections 

58. Every HHSRS assessment must be made on the basis of a whole dwelling inspection. 
If the dwelling concerned is a flat or bedsit, the common areas leading to the unit of 
accommodation must also be taken into account during the risk assessment. 

Hazard profiles 

59. There are 29 hazards that must be considered during an HHSRS inspection. These 
are: 

A  Physiological Requirements 

Hygrothermal Conditions 

1. Damp and mould growth 
2. Excess cold 
3. Excess heat 

 Pollutants (non-microbial) 

4. Asbestos (and MMF) 
5. Biocides 
6. Carbon monoxide and fuel combustion products 
7. Lead 
8. Radiation 
9. Uncombusted fuel gas 
10. Volatile organic compounds 

Page 58



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 25 

 

B Psychological Requirements 

 Space, Security, Light and Noise 

11. Crowding and space 
12. Entry by intruders 
13. Lighting 
14. Noise 

C Protection Against Infection  

 Hygiene, Sanitation and Water Supply 

15. Domestic hygiene, pests and refuse 
16. Food safety 
17. Personal hygiene, sanitation and drainage 
18. Water supply 

D Protection Against Accidents 

Falls 

19. Falls associated with baths, etc 
20. Falling on level surfaces, etc 
21. Falling on stairs, etc 
22. Falling between levels 

Electric shocks, Fires, Burns and Scalds 

23. Electrical hazards 
24. Fire 
25. Flames, hot surfaces, etc 

Collisions, Cuts and Strains 

26. Collision and entrapment 
27. Explosions  
28. Position and operability of amenities, etc 
29. Structural collapse and falling elements 

Hazard assessment 

60. If an inspector identifies one of the prescribed hazards during any inspection, he/she 
must make a two-stage assessment. 

61. In the first instance, he/she must consider the likelihood of something happening in the 
next 12 months, as a consequence of the hazard, which could cause harm. The 
harmful occurrence could, for example, be a period of exposure to a harmful substance 
or an accident. After this assessment, the inspector must then decide on the potential 
severity of outcomes should the harm occur. 

62. This process can be further explained using an example for “Falls between levels”. The 
likelihood of a fall from a window will vary depending on the design, size, and condition 
of the window concerned. A sash window with a low sill height and no fastener will 
present more of a risk than say a casement window with a high sill height and only a 
top opener. The second part of the assessment, that being the severity of harm 
outcomes, will depend on the height of the window. Consider again the sash window 
with a low sill height. The consequences of a fall from such a window at ground floor 
level onto grass are likely to be very different to a fall from a window on a sixth floor 
onto a concrete path. 

63. An HHSRS assessment will result in a numerical hazard score. This score determines 
the band in which the hazard sits. Hazard bands have been devised to avoid emphasis 
being placed on what may appear to be a precise numerical score and a precise 
statement of risk. A risk assessment can only be a representation of the inspector’s 

Page 59



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

judgement. There are ten hazard bands, with Band J being the least hazardous and 
Band A being the most dangerous. 

64. Any hazard with a banding of A, B or C is deemed to be a Category 1 hazard. Hazards 
with a banding of D to J are considered to be Category 2 hazards. Category 1 hazards 
are the most severe and have been prioritised by the Act. The council is therefore duty 
bound, as the LHA, to take one of the prescribed forms of enforcement action in 
respect of any Category 1 hazard identified. Where Category 2 hazards have been 
identified, the council has a discretionary power to take action. 

65. An HHSRS assessment does not imply what type of enforcement action should be 
taken. That is a matter for the individual circumstances of each case. The HHSRS is 
simply a way of assessing the seriousness of the hazard(s) identified. 

Page 60



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 27 

 

Chapter 4: Reactive interventions 

66. Every year, the council receives a large volume of complaints about private sector 
housing conditions. These are primarily from private sector tenants who are concerned 
about the safety of their home environment. In response to the high level of demand, 
the council has adopted a pragmatic approach to managing its service provision. This 
approach recognises that not all customers will receive immediate assistance; 
however, it ensures that all service requests are dealt with fairly and consistently, and 
that response times are proportionate to the health and safety risks alleged. 

67. As previously stated, the council assesses housing conditions using the procedure 
prescribed by national legislation, namely the HHSRS. However, before an inspection 
can take place, the council must give the owner and occupier of the premises 
concerned at least 24 hours’ notice of its intention to inspect. This legal requirement 
has been factored into the service provision offered. 

68. Upon receipt of a service request, the council will make an initial assessment of the 
potential health and safety risks based on the information provided by the person 
making the request. This will result in one of the service responses outlined below. 

No assistance offered 

69. Unfortunately, the council cannot intervene in every housing related concern or dispute 
brought to its attention. The council’s Housing Regeneration Team primary role is to 
ensure that every resident is provided with accommodation that is free from 
unacceptable hazards. Therefore, in some cases, the council may advise a customer to 
seek their own legal advice and/or contact the Citizens Advice Bureau. 

Complaint Rota 

70. The vast majority of service requests are dealt with in this way. The customer will be 
asked to complete a short form which requires basic information about the service 
request, including details relating to occupation, the landlord (and agent if applicable), 
and the nature of the alleged concerns. It is important to note that the council 
recognises there are many good landlords who will respond quickly and appropriately 
to any tenant concerns. As such, the form requires the customer to confirm they have 
contacted their landlord or agent about their problems, when they made contact, and 
outline the response(s) obtained. In general terms, the council would not want to 
intervene if the landlord is doing everything reasonably possible to deal with the issues 
brought to their attention. 

71. Upon receipt of a completed service request form, the council will send appointment 
letters to the occupier and the landlord (owner), and where applicable any known 
agent, confirming a date and time for the intended inspection. In all cases, and allowing 
for postal delivery times, at least 24 hours’ notice will be given. The landlord and/or 
their agent are more than welcome to attend during the inspection; however, an 
appointment will not be postponed if the landlord is unable to make the date and time 
allocated. An appropriately authorised and qualified officer will undertake the inspection 
at the specified time and carry out a complete HHSRS inspection of the dwelling, and 
any common parts (if applicable) leading to it within the curtilage of the building. 

72. Waiting times for a Complaint Rota inspection vary and very much depend on the time 
of the year. Waiting times are usually longer in the winter months owing to the higher 
number of service requests received. The council will endeavour to make a first visit 
within one to three weeks; however, this is not always possible in times of high 
demand. A first inspection is always guaranteed to take place within ten weeks of a 
service request being made. 

Page 61



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Investigation Rota 

73. In some cases, the nature of the service request does not allow the Complaint Rota 
procedure to be followed. For example, it would be inappropriate to make an 
appointment to visit a property which is alleged to be overcrowded. In such cases, the 
person making the service request would not normally be resident at the subject 
address. Another example could be when a concerned member of the public contacts 
the council about a resident in their road who appears to be living in unsafe conditions. 

74. When occupation of the premises concerned is unknown and/or the occupier(s) are 
unaware of the service request, the council will first review available records and 
determine whether a case history already exists. If further investigation is required and 
a visit to the premises needed, the case will be added to the Investigation Rota. Certain 
days (at least one every month) are put aside for undertaking this rota, and two 
appropriately authorised and qualified officers will visit the premises concerned in a 
sensitive manner and attempt to establish whether informal assistance can be provided 
or whether formal enforcement action is necessary. 

75. Where a service request has been made about a property not occupied or owned by 
the customer, and that person has provided their name and address, the council will 
normally update the customer as to the outcome of any investigation. However, much 
of the information obtained during such an investigation is usually confidential and so 
will be unavailable. Details of the customer making the service request will be kept 
confidential, and not divulged to any third parties unless authority to do so has been 
given. Service requests made by persons who wish to remain anonymous to the 
council will not be accepted unless there is good cause for further investigation. 
Complaints which are clearly vexatious in nature and cannot be evidenced will not be 
investigated. 

High Priority 

76. When a manager or senior officer is of the opinion that a service request has 
highlighted an issue that is deemed to constitute an imminent and serious risk to the 
health or safety of any person, the request will be classified as High Priority. The 
council’s first response to a High Priority request will be made as soon as possible, but 
in all cases within two working days. 

Priority 

77. When a manager or senior officer is of the opinion that a service request has 
highlighted an issue that is particularly serious in nature, the request may be classified 
as a Priority. The council’s first response to a Priority request will be made as soon as 
possible, but in all cases within ten working days. Whether a case is determined to be a 
Priority case or not will depend on current service demands. If the waiting time for an 
appointment on the Complaint Rota is short, i.e. less than ten working days, the cases 
that could be classified as Priority will be added to the Complaint Rota. However, 
during busy periods, the wait for such an appointment may run into a number of weeks. 
Therefore, when a service request meets the criteria for a Priority case during periods 
of high demand, there will be an assurance that the customer receives a first response 
within ten working days. 

Information gathering inspections 

78. Investigation Rota, High Priority or Priority cases may be subject to initial information 
gathering inspections which are deemed to be informal. Informal inspections are not 
HHSRS inspections. Whenever formal action is required under the Act, the requirement 
to give 24 hours’ notice to the landlord (owner) and occupier will be necessary before 
an HHSRS inspection can take place. 

Page 62



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 29 

 

Chapter 5: Proactive interventions 

79. Many residents cope with poor housing conditions, to the detriment of their health and 
well-being, without knowing how to improve their situation. The council receives and 
encourages referrals from other agencies, such as the Police and Social Services, and 
offers help whenever possible. However, it is also important to reach out to those 
residents who may be in need of our assistance, but who are unknown to other public 
services or charitable groups. 

80. Therefore, the council endeavours to take a proactive approach to identifying residents 
in need of help with their housing conditions. The approaches taken vary and depend 
on the available resources at the time. Interventions may be specific, based on an 
identified need, and last only for a short time. Others are more established, and are 
delivered in partnership with other agencies and council departments. 

81. The following proactive interventions are current as of January 2014, but are subject to 
change at any time. 

Your Home Your Health 

82. A multi-agency referral process based on housing inspections, and known as Your 
Home Your Health, is led by the council’s Housing Regeneration Team. The team has 
made links with a wide range of services and agencies, internally and externally, both 
public sector and voluntary. The council’s Housing Regeneration Team can now 
directly refer residents to other services and provide advice about many more. The 
services included within the scheme are reviewed and updated regularly. As of January 
2014, there are 26 direct referrals available. These are: 
 

Your Home Your Health – Available Referrals 

Housing enforcement Social Services  NHS Health Trainer 

Kent Fire & Rescue  NHS Dentist  Children’s Centres (0-5) 

Police  NHS Doctors Adult education 

Housing Options Quit smoking service Job Centre Plus 

Council housing repairs Kent Drug and Alcohol Team Waste and rubbish services 

CAB including benefit advice Immigration issues Community Safety Team 

Gardening services Mental health service Pest control service 

Energy Savings Trust Advice 
Centre 

Occupational Therapy (major 
adaptations) 

HIA/Handyperson (minor 
adaptations) 

Loan shark advice Home library service  

 

83. The Your Home Your Health initiative is a holistic approach to tackling poor housing 
conditions, with the added benefit of being able to offer residents help with their health 
and social care needs. Participation on the part of residents is voluntary. 

84. From time to time, certain areas are identified by the council as needing proactive 
intervention. This may be a block of flats, a street or a specific area containing a 
number of roads. The residential dwellings to be targeted will receive a letter about a 
forthcoming visit from the council’s Housing Regeneration Team. The letter will explain 
the purpose of the visit and provide an opportunity to make an appointment. 

85. On the programmed inspection days, officers will make unannounced visits and offer a 
free home check to all residents. If a resident chooses not to participate in the scheme, 
no further action will usually be taken, except to record that no assistance is required. If 
a resident wishes to participate, the visiting officers will carry out an informal housing 

Page 63



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

inspection and complete a multi-agency referral form. The form collects data about the 
property and the resident. If the resident wishes to be referred to one or more other 
services that may be of benefit to them, the council will make those referrals. 

86. If during the inspection, housing problems are identified and the property is privately 
rented, the council will usually seek to revisit the premises on a formal basis, and 
undertake an HHSRS inspection. In accordance with section 239 of the Act, the council 
will give the owner (landlord) and resident at least 24 hours’ notice of this inspection. 

87. If, however, an emergency situation arises (see the “Enforcement” chapter below), 
further action may be taken without recourse to a formal inspection if the health and 
safety of any person is at imminent risk of serious harm. 

88. As previously stated, the Your Home Your Health scheme is voluntary, and residents 
may refuse a free home check. This is a fundamental concept of the scheme; however, 
there may be times when the council has a duty to take action, even if a resident 
refuses help. The council will intervene in cases where a resident appears not to be 
able to make reasonable judgements about their own or other people’s safety, and 
there is a clear risk of harm to either themselves, or any other person, including visitors 
and members of the public. In such cases, the council will normally seek assistance 
from other support agencies such as Social Services and the NHS. 

89. Access is often gained to the common parts of a building containing flats during Your 
Home Your Health visits. While each flat resident may choose to accept or refuse a 
free home check, any communal area that is found to be unsafe will be subject to 
further investigation and, if necessary, enforcement action to ensure resident safety. 

90. Residents who are not at home during the programmed inspection days will receive a 
letter. The letter will again outline the purpose of the scheme and provide a further 
opportunity to contact us to arrange a visit. 

91. The Your Home Your Health initiative is not tenure specific, and attempts will be made 
to visit all residential dwellings within a targeted area. 

Operation Cleansweep 

92. Operation Cleansweep was established in 2007 as a district-wide multi-agency 
initiative that delivers Environmental Action Days. The programme is led by the 
council’s Environmental Health team, supported by a range of other council 
departments and outside agencies, both public sector and voluntary. Target areas vary 
and can include housing estates, high streets, or industrial estates. Actions that can be 
taken during an Environmental Action Day are wide-ranging and may include reviewing 
housing conditions, clearance of alleyways, removal of illegally parked cars, 
identification of illegal immigrants, graffiti removal and food safety inspections. 

93. The frequency of Environmental Action Days is at the discretion of the Environmental 
Health team, but as of January 2014, these take place on two consecutive days, once 
every month. Visits are undertaken without any prior notice. 

94. The council’s Housing Regeneration Team participates in many of the Environmental 
Action Days, and is able to offer proactive housing interventions when appropriate. In 
general terms, officers approach Environmental Action Days as they would a Your 
Home Your Health visit as described above. 

Margate Task Force 

95. The Margate Task Force is a multi-agency initiative that was set up to tackle the multi-
faceted problems faced in the two electoral wards of Margate Central and Cliftonville 
West. These wards contain the three most deprived areas in South-East England 
according to the English Indices of Deprivation 2010. 

Page 64



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 31 

 

96. Fourteen agencies and groups are co-located in the council offices, including the 
Police, Kent Fire & Rescue, Social Services and the NHS. The team is operational, in 
that it has officers on the ground on a daily basis, and responds to a whole range of 
issues to deliver a joined up response to the needs of the community. 

97. The private rented sector is recognised as being at the heart of many of the problems 
experienced in the two wards and is therefore key to many of the activities undertaken 
by the Task Force. The council’s Housing Regeneration Team has therefore committed 
staffing resources to support this work. 

98. The Task Force operates a proactive street week programme, which is broadly based 
on the principles of the Your Home Your Health initiative outlined above. 

Historically non-compliant landlords 

99. Unfortunately, a minority of landlords and managing agents routinely provide unsafe 
accommodation. When a landlord or managing agent has been repeatedly associated 
with poor quality housing, the council believe it is reasonable to assume that other 
properties within their portfolio may be of similar quality. As such, the council may 
determine that it is necessary to proactively investigate a particular landlord or 
managing agent, with a view to identifying properties owned or managed by them to 
establish whether they are safe for occupation. 

100. Any such investigation must be approved by a manager or senior officer, and they must 
deem such an investigation to be in the public interest. 

Page 65



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Chapter 6: Enforcement 

101. Once the council has established that there are residential premises which fail to meet 
minimum requirements, it will seek to secure compliance with relevant legislation. How 
the council approaches each case will depend on a range of factors; however, it will 
always respond in a fair and transparent way. 

Enforcement Concordat 

102. The council is a signatory to the Enforcement Concordat which was first published in 
1998 and sets out six principles of good enforcement. This is a voluntary code, which 
around 96% of central and local government enforcement bodies have adopted. The 
principles relate to standards, openness, helpfulness, complaints about service, 
proportionality, and consistency. 

103. The concordat applies to strategic decisions and to individual enforcement decisions, 
and commits the council to adopting good enforcement policies and procedures. The 
council therefore takes care to help businesses and others meet their legal obligations 
without unnecessary expense or burden, while taking firm action, including prosecution 
where appropriate, against those who disregard the law or act irresponsibly. 

The Regulators’ Code 

104. The Regulators’ Code, which was issued in April 2014 under the Legislative and 
Regulatory Reform Act 2006, seeks to promote proportionate, consistent and targeted 
regulatory activity through the development of transparent and effective dialogue and 
understanding between regulators and those they regulate. 

105. The Code does not apply to every regulatory function delivered by the Housing 
Regeneration Team. In particular, Part 1 of the Act, namely the enforcement of housing 
conditions, is specifically excluded. It does, however, apply to sections 2 to 5 of the Act 
and to many of the other legislative provisions outlined above. Where it does apply, the 
council has a statutory duty to have regard to the Code when developing its policies 
and principles, in setting its standards, and in providing guidance. It does not, however, 
apply to officers dealing with individual cases. Insofar as it applies, the council has had 
due regard to the Code in drafting this policy. 

Statutory guidance 

106. When considering any formal action the council will have regard to any published 
statutory guidance currently in force. In respect of housing conditions under Part 1 of 
the Act, guidance was published under section 9 in February 2006. This document, 
namely Housing Health and Safety Rating System – Enforcement Guidance, is of 
particular importance. The council always has regard to this guidance when 
considering enforcement action under Part 1 of the Act. 

Approach to enforcement action 

107. The following paragraphs set out how, in general, the council will usually take 
enforcement action in the circumstances described. 

Enforcement action following a Complaint Rota inspection 

108. When responding to complaints under the “Complaint Rota” system described above, 
the council will notify the landlord of the intended inspection by letter, or sometimes by 
other appropriate means. The council would expect any responsible landlord (or his 
agent) to make contact upon receipt of the notification to discuss the complaint. If the 

Page 66



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 33 

 

pre-arranged inspection takes place and there is no attendance by the landlord (or his 
agent) and there is no record of any other response being made, the council will take 
the appropriate enforcement action. 

109. However, if communication has been made and there is a genuine commitment to 
remedy any housing deficiencies within reasonable timescales, the landlord will be 
given the opportunity to resolve any problems on an informal basis (unless paragraphs 
115-118 apply). 

110. The opportunity to resolve problems on an informal basis is strictly time-limited. If the 
council is of the opinion that the landlord is not making reasonable progress towards a 
suitable resolution, the council will take the appropriate enforcement action. 

Enforcement action following an Investigation Rota, Priority or High Priority, or 
proactive inspection 

111. When responding to these types of complaints (or engaging in proactive inspections), 
the first visit will usually be carried out on an informal basis, without any notification 
being given to the landlord. Following such an inspection, the council will usually make 
an informal approach to the landlord if any problems have been identified. If there is a 
genuine commitment to remedy any housing deficiencies within reasonable timescales, 
the landlord will be given the opportunity to resolve any problems on an informal basis 
(unless paragraphs 115-118 apply). 

112. However, in cases where significant problems have been highlighted, the council will 
usually return to the premises at a later date to undertake a fully notified inspection to 
ascertain whether any Category 1 hazards exist on those premises. 

113. If circumstances permit and a formal notification can been made before the initial 
inspection, the provisions set out above for the Complaint Rota system shall apply. 
(This paragraph does not apply to proactive inspections.) 

114. The opportunity to resolve problems on an informal basis is strictly time-limited. If the 
council is of the opinion that the landlord is not making reasonable progress towards a 
suitable resolution, the council will take the appropriate enforcement action. 

Duty to take action (including Category 1 hazards) 

115. While the council prefers to resolve housing problems on an informal basis, there are 
circumstances in which it has a mandatory duty to take action. Therefore, in some 
situations, the council will have no option but to proceed with the required remedy in 
order to comply with relevant legislation. Examples include the requirement to take the 
appropriate enforcement action in respect of Category 1 hazards and the duty to serve 
an Abatement Notice in respect of statutory nuisances. 

Emergency situations 

116. On occasion, the council is faced with a dangerous situation. In cases where there is 
an imminent risk of serious harm to any person, the council will attempt to make 
contact with the landlord or owner and, if contact is made, request that immediate 
action is taken. If contact cannot be made, or an unacceptable response is 
forthcoming, the council will take the action necessary to protect public health. 

Enforcement action in respect of unlicensed premises 

117. This paragraph applies when a residential property contains housing deficiencies 
requiring intervention and the premises should be licensed by the council, and are not, 
owing to the failure of the landlord to make a full and valid licence application. In such 
circumstances, the council will normally proceed with formal enforcement action 
following inspection of the premises. The consequences of operating unlicensed 
premises without reasonable excuse are set out in the Licensing chapter of this 
document. 

Page 67



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Enforcement action in respect of historically non-compliant landlords 

118. The council recognises that most private sector landlords operate compliant 
businesses and take pride in delivering a valuable resource to society. However, this is 
not always the case, and a minority of landlords and managing agents routinely provide 
poor quality accommodation and/or fail to manage their properties satisfactorily. The 
council is of the opinion that knowledge of a landlord’s compliance history is a relevant 
factor in considering whether to take formal enforcement action. Therefore, where a 
landlord or managing agent is associated with poor quality housing and management, 
and an inspection of one of their properties reveals poor housing conditions requiring 
intervention, the council will normally proceed with formal enforcement action without 
recourse to informal remedies. 

Category 2 hazards 

119. Whereas the council must take the appropriate enforcement action in respect of 
Category 1 hazards (hazard bands A-C), the taking of action in respect of Category 2 
hazards (hazard bands D-J) is discretionary. In general terms, the council is of the 
opinion that its discretionary powers should be exercised whenever it is appropriate to 
do so. 

120. Every case is carefully considered on an individual basis. Any Category 2 hazard 
(irrespective of hazard banding) may be subject to enforcement action if the council 
determines that there is a risk to health and safety that should be mitigated. However, it 
is more likely that action will be taken in respect of hazards that fall between hazard 
bands D and G. While hazards with a hazard banding of H, I or J are less likely to be 
subject to enforcement action, the council reserves the right to use its discretionary 
enforcement powers in respect of such hazards. 

121. Although the council will usually tend towards enforcement action in respect of higher 
rated Category 2 hazards, after careful consideration of the individual circumstances of 
a case, the council may decide not to exercise its discretionary powers and take no 
form of enforcement action whatsoever.  

When a tenant moves out (Improvement Notices) 

122. If a tenant vacates a property that is subject to an Improvement Notice served under 
the Act, the council will usually continue to enforce the original requirements and 
timescales of the notice. The council believes that this approach deters landlords and 
agents from engaging in retaliatory evictions and safeguards the health and safety of 
future tenants. 

123. However, each case is determined on its own merits, and in some situations the 
council may agree to the suspension or variation of the requirements of an 
Improvement Notice once a property becomes empty. Applications for a suspension or 
variation must be made to the council, in writing, as soon as possible after vacation. 

Charging for enforcement action 

124. Under section 49 of the Act, the council may make such reasonable charges as 
considered appropriate as a means of recovering the administrative and other 
expenses incurred in taking enforcement action. The council has determined that 
charges will be made in respect of the following types of enforcement actions: 

o The service of an Improvement Notice (see notes below); 

o The making of a Prohibition Order; 

o The taking of Emergency Remedial Action; 

o The making of an Emergency Prohibition Order; 

Page 68



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 35 

 

o The making of a Demolition Order (under the 85 Act). 

125. The council does not charge for the service of Hazard Awareness Notices. 

126. While there is a policy of charging for Improvement Notices, the council has decided to 
recognise notice recipients who fully comply with the notices served upon them. 
Therefore, the charge will be waived if a notice recipient completes the remedial works 
and/or actions specified in an Improvement Notice to an acceptable standard within the 
timescales stated. 

127. When a Residential Property Tribunal allows an appeal against an underlying notice or 
order, it may decide to reduce, quash, or require the repayment of any associated 
demand served under section 49 of the Act. However, it is important to note that there 
are no separate appeal provisions relating to the service of a demand. Therefore, if a 
notice recipient does not appeal against the underlying notice or order, he/she may not 
appeal against the council’s decision to make a charge for the enforcement action. 

128. The scope of the expenses that may be charged by the council are set out in section 
49 of the Act. 

129. For Improvement Notices, these are: 

o Determining whether to serve the notice; 

o Identifying the action to be specified in the notice; 

o Serving the notice. 

130. For Emergency Remedial Action, these are: 

o Determining whether to take such action; 

o Serving the relevant notice. 

131. For Prohibition, Emergency Prohibition and Demolition Orders, these are: 

o Determining whether to make the order; 

o Serving copies of the order on the owners of the premises. 

132. The expenses incurred in respect of each intervention are calculated having regard to 
officer time and other incidental costs, such as photocopying and postage. The council 
may also employ the services of an outside company or agency to help assist with the 
enforcement action. These costs will also form part of the charge made under section 
49. Examples include the provision of laboratory asbestos testing, structural engineer’s 
reports, and other similar specialist services. 

133. The council may, from time to time, calculate the average cost of enforcement action 
and set a fixed charge for the expenses incurred by the council. Where possible, and in 
all cases where the enforcement action involves the service of an Improvement Notice, 
the total charge will be specified in the covering letter to the notice or order. 

Penalties for non-compliance 

Offences 

134. It is generally an offence not to comply with a statutory notice served, or order made, 
by the council’s Housing Regeneration Team. There are some minor exceptions, where 
works-in-default (see below) is the potential consequence for non-compliance. 

135. Every notice served, or order made, will specify the maximum fine level for non-
compliance. For certain offences, there are also ongoing daily fines that are incurred 
after conviction for continued non-compliance. For the most part, the penalties 
specified refer to the standard scale of fines for summary offences set out in the 
Criminal Justice Act 1982. The maximum fines for the standard scale are: 

Page 69



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

o Level 5: £5,000 

o Level 4: £2,500 

o Level 3: £1,000 

o Level 2: £500 

o Level 1: £200 

136. The most common type of notice served by the council (which requires action on the 
part of the recipient) is the Improvement Notice. Currently, as of January 2014, non-
compliance with such a notice will, upon conviction, incur a Level 5 fine, which may be 
up to £5,000. 

137. However, the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 will 
remove the £5,000 fine limit and introduce unlimited fines from a designated date. As at 
January 2014, the date is unknown, but it is anticipated to be in the near future. Various 
other housing-related offences that have fine levels capped at £5,000 will also be 
affected and will be subject to unlimited fines. 

138. For some offences, there is a defence of “reasonable excuse”. If this defence is 
available, it will be made clear in the notes attached to the notice or order. 

Prosecution 

139. When a person fails to comply with a notice served, or order made, the council will 
begin an investigation to consider whether or not an offence has been committed. 

140. If the council forms the opinion that an offence has been committed, it will initiate 
prosecution proceedings in the Magistrates’ Court (unless there are good reasons not 
to do so). Reference should be made to the chapter on Prosecutions. 

Simple cautions 

141. In certain circumstances, the council may decide to issue a simple caution, rather than 
initiating prosecution proceedings in the Magistrates’ Court. Simple cautions can 
quickly and simply deal with less serious offences. A simple caution is not a criminal 
conviction. 

142. Simple cautions may only be issued when: 

o The evidence is such that there would have been a realistic prospect of 
conviction, had the case gone to court; and 

o The suspect admits the offence; and 

o The suspect consents to being cautioned and understands the significance of 
admitting guilt and being subject to a simple caution. 

143. Simple cautions are recorded on a secure register held by the council and may be 
referred to in future criminal proceedings. The issuing of a simple caution is intended to 
discourage reoffending. 

144. Further information regarding simple cautions can be obtained from the Ministry of 
Justice document: Simple Cautions for Adult Offenders, which is available online from 
www.cps.gov.uk. 

Works-in-default 

145. In respect of much of the legislation mentioned above, the council has the discretionary 
power to carry out works-in-default when a statutory notice has not been complied with. 
It will be made clear within the original notice if this power is available to the council 
following non-compliance. 

146. The power is an entirely separate matter to prosecution. The council may, in one case, 
carry out works-in-default and decide not to prosecute. It may, however, in another 

Page 70



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 37 

 

case, decide to prosecute and choose not to carry out works-in-default. In some cases, 
the council will do both. Each case is considered on its own merits. 

147. The decision to carry out works-in-default is always made by a senior officer, as the 
action requires the expenditure of public monies. The senior officer will also determine 
the scope and nature of the works-in-default, as not all the works required by the 
underlying notice may be undertaken.  

148. In taking such action, the council will strictly adhere to its own Contract Standing 
Orders for the procurement of goods and services. It will also ensure that the cost of 
remedial action is reasonable. 

149. All expenses incurred in carrying out works-in-default will be recharged to the relevant 
person by way of statutory demand notice. The expenses usually include: 

o The cost of external contractors and consultants; and 

o The cost of council officers’ time, including travelling expenses; and 

o The cost of sundries, such as photocopying and postage of documents; and 

o An accountancy charge (charged as a percentage of the total cost). 

150. Interest, at a rate determined by the council, may also be levied from the date of the 
service of the demand notice. Any provision for appealing against the level of the 
expenses charged will be detailed in the demand notice. 

151. The expenses will remain as a local land charge on the property concerned until the 
debt has been paid in full. 

Debt recovery 

152. The council will seek to recover all debts owed as soon as possible. The council’s 
Housing Regeneration Team will instruct the council’s Debt Recovery Team to initiate 
recovery proceedings when the following debts have not been paid: 

o Charges relating to the service of a statutory notice or order (section 49 of the 
Act); 

o Expenses incurred with the taking of Emergency Remedial Action; 

o Expenses incurred with the carrying out of works-in-default. 

153. Where appropriate, the council will use the enforced sale procedure under the Law of 
Property Act 1925 as a means of recovering any monies owed. 

Page 71



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Chapter 7: Houses in multiple occupation 
(HMOs) 

154. The term HMO often means different things to different people. Indeed, the definition 
used by housing practitioners changed substantially in April 2006 owing to the 
implementation of the Act. Fundamentally, the term “HMO” when used in this 
document, refers to the legal definition prescribed by section 254 of the Act. 
Professionals in other fields, in consideration of alternative legislation, may view the 
term differently. 

155. A building, or a part of a building, is an HMO if: 

o It meets “the standard test”; or 

o It meets “the self-contained flat test”; or 

o It meets “the converted building test”; or 

o It is a “converted block of flats” to which section 257 of the Act applies. 

The standard test 

156. There are six parts to the standard test. A building (or any part of a building) will meet 
the test if: 

a) It consists of one or more units of accommodation that are not self-contained; 
and 

b) It is occupied by more than one household; and 

c) It is occupied by persons who use the accommodation as their only or main 
residence; and 

d) The accommodation is not used for purposes other than living accommodation; 
and 

e) At least one person is paying rent (or providing other consideration) for their use 
of the accommodation; and 

f) Two or more households share one or more basic amenity, or the 
accommodation is lacking in one or more basic amenity. 

157. A household is generally considered to be a single family unit, comprised of members 
of the same family. Couples whether married or not are deemed to be of the same 
family. Relatives that may form part of a single household include: parents, 
grandparents, children, grandchildren, brothers, sisters, uncles, aunts, nephews, 
nieces, and cousins. 

158. Toilets, personal washing facilities (e.g. showers, baths and washbasins) and cooking 
facilities (e.g. kitchens) are considered to be basic facilities. 

The self-contained flat test  

159. A self-contained flat will be an HMO if it meets tests b) to f) of “the standard test” 
above. 

The converted building test 

160. There are six parts to the converted building test. A building (or any part of a building) 
will meet the test if: 

Page 72



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 39 

 

a) It is a converted building; and 

b) It consists of one or more units of accommodation that are not self-contained 
(whether or not there are self-contained flats in the building); and 

c) It is occupied by more than one household; and 

d) It is occupied by persons who use the accommodation as their only or main 
residence; and 

e) The accommodation is not used for purposes other than living accommodation; 
and 

f) At least one person is paying rent (or providing other consideration) for their use 
of the accommodation. 

Certain converted block of flats 

161. This HMO definition applies to certain buildings (or parts thereof) that have been 
converted entirely into self-contained flats. As such, there is no sharing of basic 
facilities in this type of HMO. However, not all buildings converted into self-contained 
flats are HMOs. For a building of this type to be an HMO, it must meet both of the 
following tests: 

a) The building was not converted in accordance with the “appropriate building 
standards” (they being the Building Regulations 1991 or later versions of these 
Regulations); and 

b) Less than two-thirds of the self-contained flats are owner-occupied. 

HMO declarations 

162. Sometimes, a building (or part of a building) is not solely used as living 
accommodation. In this situation, the HMO tests set out above (concerning sole use as 
living accommodation) cannot be met. However, if the building concerned is primarily 
used as living accommodation, and meets all the other relevant HMO tests, it may be 
appropriate for the council, in the public interest, to declare the building as an HMO.  

163. HMO declarations can be made by the council in respect of buildings that would 
otherwise meet the “the standard test”, “the self-contained flat test”, and “the converted 
building test”. An HMO declaration cannot be made in respect of “converted block of 
flats”. 

164. A relevant person can appeal to the Residential Property Tribunal against any decision 
of the council to declare a building as an HMO. 

Exemptions 

165. Schedule 14 of the Act specifies buildings which are not HMOs for the purposes of the 
Act. However, when considering action under Part 1 of the Act (HHSRS and 
enforcement of housing conditions), the specified exemptions do not apply. This allows 
for risk assessment to reflect the true nature of occupation. The exemptions are: 

o Buildings managed or controlled by LHAs, registered social landlords (“RSLs”) 
and certain other public sector bodies, such as the Police. 

o Buildings that are otherwise regulated under prescribed legislation, such as care 
homes (see Schedule 1 of The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 
2006  (SI 2006/373) for the full list of enactments). 

o Buildings that are managed and controlled by certain educational establishments 
and are occupied by students. As of January 2014, only those establishments 

Page 73



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

specified in The Houses in Multiple Occupation (Specified Educational 
Establishments) (England) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/1601) are exempt. These 
regulations are regularly updated, usually on an annual basis. 

o Certain buildings occupied by religious communities. 

o Any building occupied by its owner and his/her family, and in which no more than 
two lodgers or tenants reside. HMOs defined by section 257 of the Act are 
excluded from this exemption. 

o Buildings occupied by only two persons forming two households. 

166. Exempt buildings are not subject to HMO licensing under Part 2 of the Act, or either of 
the two sets of HMO management regulations (see below). Furthermore, the provisions 
of Chapter 3 of Part 4 of the Act, which relate to the service of overcrowding notices in 
respect of HMOs not subject to licensing, do not apply to exempt buildings. 

Planning use (including Article 4 Direction) 

167. The Housing Regeneration Team is concerned with safety and management standards 
in HMOs. In this respect, the following chapters describe how licensing and 
management regulations provide additional protection for HMO residents. However, 
whether a property can, in principle, be used as an HMO is a matter for the planning 
regime and the Planning Department. Any property operating as an HMO could be 
subject to planning enforcement action if it does not have lawful use as an HMO. 

168. To ensure that the impact of HMOs can be properly considered through the planning 
process, on 04 February 2012 the council made an Article 4 Direction removing the 
permitted development right to change the use of a dwelling house (use class C3) to a 
small HMO (use class C4). Use class C4 relates to certain HMOs occupied by three to 
six persons. Any person wishing to make this change must make a planning 
application. 

169. More information about the planning regime and the Article 4 Direction can be obtained 
from the Planning Department on 01843 577150 or planning.services@thanet.gov.uk. 

 

Page 74



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 41 

 

Chapter 8: Licensing of HMOs and other 
residential accommodation 

Overview 

170. In April 2006, the Act introduced three licensing regimes for residential accommodation 
in the private sector. These are: 

o Mandatory HMO licensing (Part 2 of the Act); 

o Additional HMO licensing (Part 2 of the Act); 

o Selective licensing (Part 3 of the Act). 

171. The mandatory HMO licensing scheme applies to all local authority areas in England. 
Accordingly, the council, as the LHA, has a mandatory duty to implement, operate, and 
enforce the scheme. Additional HMO licensing and selective licensing schemes are 
discretionary, and it is for each LHA to determine, at a local level, whether there are 
particular problems in their area that could be tackled by the introduction of a 
discretionary licensing scheme. Any LHA that proposes to implement a discretionary 
licensing scheme must provide sufficient evidence to demonstrate why such a scheme 
is needed and carry out a public consultation. 

Mandatory HMO licensing 

172. Chapter 7 describes the types of premises that are deemed to be HMOs for the 
purposes of the Act. However, the mandatory licensing scheme only applies to certain 
types of HMO. The prescribed types have been set out in The Licensing of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Descriptions) (England) Order 2006 (SI 2006/371). 

173. In the first instance, all HMOs as defined by section 257 of the Act (certain converted 
blocks of flats) are excluded from the mandatory scheme. All other types of HMO are 
licensable if: 

o The HMO, or any part of it, comprises three or more storeys; and 

o It is occupied by five or more persons; and 

o It is occupied by persons living in two or more single households. 

174. Mandatory HMO licensing was introduced to improve physical conditions and 
management standards in higher risk HMOs. 

Exemptions from mandatory HMO licensing 

175. Certain buildings, as specified in Schedule 14 of the Act, are not deemed to be HMOs, 
and are therefore not licensable. The exemptions are summarised in the HMO chapter 
above. 

176. Two further exemptions are specified in the Act. These are: 

o HMOs subject to a temporary exemption notice (see below); and 

o HMOs subject to a management order (see Chapter 11). 

Additional HMO licensing 

177. This form of discretionary licensing empowers LHAs to introduce the requirement to 
license other types of HMOs in all or part of their area. 

Page 75



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

178. Before implementing such a scheme, the LHA must consider that a significant 
proportion of the HMOs (of the type it is considering to license) are being managed 
sufficiently ineffectively so as to cause problems for those occupying the HMOs or for 
members of the public. 

179. As of January 2014, the council has not implemented an additional HMO licensing 
scheme, and does not, for the time being, propose to consult on the implementation of 
such a scheme. However, the case for additional licensing will be reviewed regularly. If 
the council, at some time in the future, forms the opinion that there are particular 
problems with other types of HMO, it may decide to consult on a proposed additional 
HMO licensing scheme. 

Selective licensing 

180. LHAs are empowered to introduce selective licensing schemes in all or part of their 
area, which require all types of private rented accommodation to be licensed (unless 
subject to exemption). An area may be designated if it is, or may become, an area of 
low housing demand and/or it has a significant and persistent problem with anti-social 
behaviour where the inaction of private landlords is a contributory factor. 

181. The council currently operates a selective licensing scheme in certain parts of the 
electoral wards of Cliftonville West and Margate Central. Suffering with high levels of 
deprivation, significant health inequalities, and a disproportionate number of poorly 
managed privately rented homes, the area concerned presents a particular challenge 
to the council. To help tackle some of the area’s difficulties, the scheme was introduced 
to: 

o Increase housing demand, in a sustainable way, which encourages a mixed and 
vibrant community; 

o Reduce the level of anti-social behaviour; 

o Improve housing conditions; 

o Improve the management of housing in the private rented sector; and 

o Reduce overcrowding. 

182. A comprehensive analysis of the area and the detailed reasons for the scheme’s 
introduction can be found in the council’s Proposal to Declare a Selective Licensing 
Designation. This and more information about selective licensing can be found on the 
council’s website. Key dates relating to the scheme are shown below: 

o Public consultation carried out between 06 September 2010 and 15 November 
2010; 

o Decision taken by the council’s Cabinet on 12 January 2011 to implement a 
selective licensing scheme following a comprehensive review of the consultation 
responses. 

o Judicial Review lodged in the High Court on 11 April 2011 by the Southern 
Landlords Association (“SLA”) alleging that the agreed scheme was unlawful. 

o Scheme became operative on 21 April 2011. From that date, every residential 
property which is privately let to one or more tenants within the designated area 
must be licensed. 

o Judicial Review heard in the High Court between 30 and 31 October 2012. 

o High Court finds in favour of Thanet District Council on 13 November 2012. The 
scheme is lawful and may continue to be enforced. 

o Scheme due to end, unless subject to further consultation, on 20 April 2016 (five 
years after coming into force). 

Page 76



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 43 

 

183. Mandatory HMO licensing always takes precedence over selective licensing. HMOs 
which are already subject to the mandatory scheme do not require a selective licence. 

Exemptions from selective licensing 

184. There are exemptions from selective licensing. Some are set out in the Act and some 
in regulations. The relevant regulations are The Selective Licensing of Houses 
(Specified Exemptions) (England) Order 2006 (SI 2006/370). 

185. The exemptions specified in the Act (sections 79 and 85) are: 

o Dwellings let by a registered social landlord; 

o HMOs required to be licensed under Part 2 of the Act (HMO licensing); 

o Dwellings subject to a temporary exemption notice (see below); 

o Dwellings subject to a management order (see Chapter 11); 

186. The regulations exempt dwellings that are subject to certain types of tenancies and 
licences. These relate to dwellings (units of accommodation) that: 

o Cannot lawfully be occupied because they are subject to a Prohibition Order; 

o Are let under specified types of tenancies (which are not assured tenancies), 
namely: 

� Business tenancies (Landlord and Tenant Act 1954); 

� Tenancies where the premises are licensed for the sale of alcohol; 

� Tenancies relating to agricultural land where more than two acres is let 
with the dwelling; 

� Specified tenancies relating to agricultural holdings, etc. 

o Are let by a LHA, a police authority, a fire and rescue authority, or a health 
service body; 

o Are regulated by other forms of legislation, such as the Children Act 1989 and the 
Prison Act 1952 (see Schedule 1 of The Licensing and Management of Houses 
in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) 
Regulations 2006  (SI 2006/373) for the full list of enactments); 

o Are let to students where the dwelling is managed or controlled by an approved 
educational establishment; 

o Are occupied by long leaseholders, where the lease has been granted for a 
period longer than 21 years and where the landlord has no right to end the lease 
early (other than by forfeiture); 

o Are let to members of the landlord’s family, who use the dwelling as their only or 
main residence; 

o Are let as a holiday home; 

o Are occupied by persons (lodgers) who share their amenities (WCs, bathrooms, 
kitchens and living rooms) with their permanently resident landlord. 

187. The above list of exemptions has been simplified for ease of explanation. More detailed 
information can be obtained from the Housing Regeneration Team. 

HMO and selective licensing fees 

188. Licensing schemes should be self-financing and are not intended to be a burden to the 
public purse. The council therefore charges fees to cover the costs of implementation 
and administration. 

Page 77



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

189. A fee, usually revised every financial year, is payable in respect of: 

o Making a new licence application; 

o Making an application to renew a licence. 

190. In each case, the fee payable normally depends on the type and size of the premises 
concerned. Licensing fees are published every year and are set out in a licensing fee 
document that is available on request or via the council’s website. 

Who can apply for a licence? 

191. The council has a duty to grant a licence to the most appropriate person, and in normal 
circumstances, this would be the owner of the property concerned. Therefore, the 
council’s preference is that the licence application is made by the owner. 

192. However, for every licence, there must be a named “Licence Holder” and a named 
“Manager”. This does not mean a separate manager must be appointed. Any owner 
who manages their own property would be named as both the licence holder and the 
manager on the licence. If a managing agent has been appointed, they would normally 
be named on the licence as the manager. In this situation, the council will accept 
applications made on behalf of the proposed licence holder by the proposed manager. 
When an application is made by a manager, the application must be accompanied by a 
letter of authorisation from the proposed licence holder. 

193. Licence holders and managers cannot live abroad. Property owners that live outside 
England will need to appoint a person or company who is prepared to be the licence 
holder on their behalf. Usually, this would be a local managing agent, but can be any 
suitably competent person. However, not all managing agents may want this 
responsibility. Ultimately, if an owner lives abroad and no-one resident in England 
agrees to be the licence holder, the property cannot be licensed.  

194. Licence applications will only be valid if they have been made by the proposed licence 
holder or the proposed manager. 

Licence applications 

195. All licence applications must be made to the council as the licensing authority. 

196. The council prefers all HMO and selective licence applications to be made online via 
the GOV.UK website. A weblink to the GOV.UK licence application form can be found 
on the council’s website. 

197. A hard copy version of the application form is available for applicants without access to 
the internet. 

198. The licence application form on the GOV.UK website is generic and intended to be 
used for both HMO and selective licence applications. However, the primary references 
and page headings relate to HMOs. Unfortunately, this is misleading for selective 
licensing applicants. On the correct webpage, there is a reference to selective licensing 
in the text below the title. The council is unable to change the wording of this website 
as it is a national facility, primarily used for making HMO licence applications. 

199. Application forms must be downloaded and saved onto a computer, before being 
completed. When the form has been filled in and saved, the applicant must return to 
the GOV.UK website and upload the document. At the same time, supporting 
documents may be uploaded. These include: 

o A copy of a fire safety risk assessment. (This is required if the proposed licence 
holder is responsible for any common areas within the property. If a report is not 
available at the time of application, the provision of such a report will be required, 
by a certain date, under the terms of the licence.) 

Page 78



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 45 

 

o Property plans. (Well proportioned, preferably scaled, plans are required for the 
property, with all rooms identified by their use and number if applicable. Room 
sizes in m2 are required for all bedsitting rooms, bedrooms and living rooms.) 

o A landlord’s gas safety record. (Required where there is a gas supply to the 
property.) 

o A copy of the tenancy agreement. (A copy of the existing tenancy agreement can 
be provided, or a copy of the standard used for the property.) 

o Electrical Condition Report. (If a copy is not provided at the time of application, 
one will be required, by a certain date, under the terms of the licence.) 

o Letter of consent. (If a proposed licence holder makes an application and details 
a proposed manager in the application, a letter of consent from the proposed 
manager will be required to demonstrate that they consent to being named on the 
licence.) 

o Letter of authorisation. (If a proposed manager makes an application on behalf of 
the proposed licence holder, they will need to provide a letter from the proposed 
licence holder which authorises the making of the application. The letter must 
specify the proposed licence holder’s name, address and contact details, the 
manager’s name, address and contact details, the property to be licensed, and 
be signed and dated.) 

o Other documents. (The website has a facility that allows other types of supporting 
documents to be uploaded.) 

200. If these supporting documents cannot be scanned and uploaded, there is an option on 
the website to confirm that they will be sent by post. 

201. Once the form and supporting documents have been successfully uploaded, the 
appropriate payment must be made by credit or debit card. The applicant will receive 
an email to confirm receipt of the application, which will include an application 
reference number. 

202. Applicants completing a paper version of the application form should make payment by 
including a cheque made out to “Thanet District Council” with their application. 

Validation of licence applications 

203. Upon receipt, the council will make initial checks before validating an application. If the 
application form is incomplete or one or more supporting documents are missing, it will 
not be accepted. 

204. A valid application will only be made if (as a minimum): 

o The application form has been satisfactorily completed; and 

o The correct fee has been paid; and 

o Satisfactorily annotated property plans have been provided; and 

o A copy of a tenancy agreement has been provided; and 

o A copy of the landlord’s gas safety record has been provided (if there is a gas 
supply to the property); and 

o A letter of consent has been provided (if the proposed licence holder is naming a 
proposed manager) or a letter of authorisation has been provided (if the 
proposed manager is making the licence application on behalf of the proposed 
licence holder). 

205. Where an incomplete application has been made, the council will notify the applicant 
and request the outstanding documents and/or require the proper completion of the 
application form. Applicants will be given 28 days in which to complete their application. 

Page 79



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

If after 28 days the applicant has failed to complete the application satisfactorily, the 
council may reject the application. Any person responsible for a property that has been 
subject to a rejected application is at risk of being prosecuted. 

206. Experience has shown that the following defects are most common: 

o The application form has not been signed by the proposed licence holder or 
manager; 

o A letter of consent has not been provided (where applicable); 

o A letter of authorisation has not been provided (where applicable); 

o The correct fee has not been paid; 

o Property plans are insufficient, owing to the use of outdated drawings that bear 
no relation to the current layout, and/or to omissions relating to the provision of 
room sizes. 

Assessment of licence applications 

207. Once an application has been validated, it will be passed to an officer for processing. In 
most cases, the officer will process the application without needing to visit the 
premises. Before proposing to grant a licence, the council must be satisfied that: 

o The proposed licence holder is a fit and proper person, and is, out of all the 
persons reasonably available to be the licence holder in respect of the property, 
the most appropriate person to be the licence holder; and 

o The proposed manager is either the person having control of the property, or a 
person who is an agent or employee of the person having control of the property; 
and 

o The proposed manager is a fit and proper person to be the manager of the 
property; and 

o The proposed management arrangements for the property are otherwise 
satisfactory. 

208. For HMOs, the council must also be satisfied that: 

o The property is reasonably suitable for occupation by the maximum number of 
households and persons specified in the application (or some other maximum 
number decided by the council) or that it can be made so suitable by the 
imposition of licence conditions. 

209. Furthermore, in respect of HMOs licensable under the mandatory regime, there are 
prescribed standards set out in Schedule 3 of The Licensing and Management of 
Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
(England) Regulations 2006 (SI 2006/373) as amended by The Licensing and 
Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) (England) 
Regulations 2007 (SI 2007/1903). These standards specify minimum requirements for 
heating, washing and kitchen facilities, and fire precautions. More information is 
provided in the chapter entitled “HMO amenity standards”. 

210. In deciding whether a person is a fit and proper person, the council must (among other 
things) take into account any conviction involving fraud or other dishonesty; any 
conviction involving violence or drugs; any conviction relating to an offence listed in 
Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003; any finding of unlawful discrimination on 
grounds of sex, colour, race, ethnic or national origins or disability in, or in connection 
with, the carrying on of any business; and any contravention of the law relating to 
housing or landlord and tenant law. 

211. The council is also required to take into account any evidence (such as the type of 
evidence described in the paragraph above) which concerns persons associated with a 

Page 80



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 47 

 

proposed licence holder or manager, whether on a personal, work or other basis. In 
other words, if a proposed licence holder or manager is closely associated with 
someone who is clearly not a fit and proper person, then they themselves may not be 
deemed to be fit and proper. 

212. Proposed licence holders and managers are expected to confirm that they are fit and 
proper persons in their licence applications. The council will usually accept such self-
certification; however, further additional checks are sometimes undertaken before a 
decision is made as to whether a person is fit and proper. 

Refusal to grant a licence 

213. If, after having carefully considered a licence application, the council is not satisfied 
that the prescribed tests have been met, it must refuse the application. In such cases, 
the council will write to the licence applicant and all relevant persons, and enclose a 
statutory notice explaining that the council is proposing to refuse the application. The 
notice will provide for a 21-day consultation period, during which representations can 
be made to the council. If any representations are received, the council will carefully 
consider them before taking further action. Whenever possible, the council will try to 
help the applicant overcome any problems. 

214. However, if no representations are made, or if the representations received do not 
change the council’s opinion, the application will be refused. Once the council has 
decided to refuse the application, it will write again to the licence applicant and all 
relevant persons, and enclose a statutory notice stating that the application has been 
refused. The notice will explain the reasons for refusal. 

215. The applicant or any relevant person may appeal against such a decision to the 
Residential Property Tribunal within 28 days. A relevant person is a person who has an 
estate or interest in the property, or who manages or has control of the property, or on 
whom any restriction or obligation was to be imposed by the licence (had it been 
granted). 

Proposal to grant a licence 

216. If, after having carefully considered a licence application, the council is satisfied that 
the prescribed tests have been met, it must propose to grant a licence. The council will 
write to the proposed licence holder and all relevant persons, and enclose a proposed 
licence and a statutory notice explaining that the council is proposing to grant a licence. 
Recipients of the notice are given 21 days in which to make representations about the 
proposed licence. Recipients should have particular regard to the proposed licence 
conditions. 

217. Conditions are attached to all licences. Some are mandatory and must be included in 
all licences in accordance with Schedule 4 of the Act. The mandatory conditions 
require the licence holder to: 

o Produce gas safety certificates to the council every year (if gas is supplied to the 
property); 

o Maintain all electrical appliances and furniture in a safe condition (applies only to 
items supplied by the licence holder or his manager); 

o Supply to the council, when requested, a declaration as to the safety of all 
electrical appliances and furniture supplied by the licence holder or his manager; 

o Ensure that smoke alarms are installed and kept in proper working order; 

o Supply to the council, when requested, a declaration as to the condition and 
positioning of all smoke alarms provided in the property; 

o Supply all tenants with a written statement of the terms of occupation. 

Page 81



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

218. A further mandatory condition applies to selective licences only. For such licences, the 
licence holder must also: 

o Require references from all prospective tenants. 

219. As permitted under Parts 2 and 3 of the Act, the council includes further conditions in 
all licences. The nature of these conditions depends on the type of licence and 
premises concerned; but in general terms, the additional conditions will relate to the 
management, use and occupation of the premises. For HMOs subject to the mandatory 
HMO licensing scheme, conditions may be included that require the installation of 
additional amenities, such as kitchens, WCs and bathrooms, within a certain timescale. 

220. Any representations received by the council will be carefully considered before further 
action is taken. In some cases, in response to representations received, the council 
may decide to propose the licence again, with modifications. If no representations are 
received during the consultation period, the council will assume that the interested 
parties are satisfied as to the nature of the proposed licence and its conditions. 

Granting of a licence 

221. Assuming that the particulars of the licence application have not changed, the council 
will grant a licence once the proposal process has been completed. The council will 
write again to the proposed licence holder and all relevant persons within seven days 
of the date of the council’s decision to grant a licence. Enclosed with the letter will be a 
copy of the licence and a statutory notice stating that the licence has been granted. 
The notice will also provide details of the right of appeal to the Residential Property 
Tribunal. Any appeal must be made within 28 days of the date of the council’s decision 
to grant a licence (this date is always stated on the accompanying notice). 

222. Once granted, licences are not transferrable between licence holders. Therefore, if a 
property is sold, the new owner will need to make arrangements for a new licence 
application to be made. 

Duration of a licence 

223. Licences may be granted for a period of up to five years. 

224. The council will usually grant a licence for the maximum five year period. However, the 
council reserves the right to grant a licence for a shorter period, if appropriate to do so, 
having regard to the particular circumstances of an individual case. No pro-rata licence 
fee rebate will be paid when a licence is issued for a period less than five years. 

225. If a licence holder decides to relinquish his/her licence early, there will be no pro-rata 
rebate of the licence application fee. 

Public registers of licences 

226. The council is required to maintain a public register of all licences issued. The 
information required to be contained within a public register is prescribed by legislation. 

227. The council maintains two public registers, one for mandatory HMO licensing and one 
for selective licensing. Both can be viewed at the council’s main offices during working 
hours, by appointment. Paper copies of the registers are available; for which a small 
fee may be charged to cover the cost of photocopying. 

228. The public registers include the names and addresses of all licence holders and named 
managers. 

 

Page 82



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 49 

 

Property inspections 

229. The council will inspect all properties subject to licensing and make an assessment 
under the HHSRS. The inspection will be carried out before, or as soon as possible 
after, the granting of a licence; however, the timing will depend on the priorities of the 
council’s inspection programme. The inspection will always take place during the initial 
licence period. 

230. The HHSRS inspection will be fully notified and at least 24 hours’ notice will be given to 
the occupier, licence holder, and manager (if applicable). Any hazards identified during 
the inspection will need to be rectified within a reasonable timescale. 

231. The council also makes unannounced inspections of licensed premises to ensure 
compliance with licence conditions. 

Variation of a licence 

232. The council may vary a licence, with the agreement of the licence holder, or on its own 
initiative if it considers there has been a change of circumstances since the licence was 
granted. 

233. To vary a licence, the council must follow the procedures set out in Schedule 5 of the 
Act. In the first instance, the council will write to the licence holder and all relevant 
persons, and enclose a proposed varied licence and a statutory notice explaining that 
the council is proposing to vary the licence. Recipients of the notice are given 21 days 
in which to make representations about the proposed variations. Any representations 
received by the council during the consultation period will be carefully considered 
before further action is taken. 

234. The proposal stage may be omitted by the council if the licence holder is in full 
agreement with the proposed changes, or if the changes are not material in any 
respect. 

235. If no representations are made during the consultation period, or if the representations 
received do not change the council’s opinion, the licence will be varied as proposed. 
Once the council has decided to vary the licence, it will write to the licence holder and 
all relevant persons, and enclose: 

o A copy of the varied licence; 

o A copy of the council’s decision to vary the licence; 

o A statutory notice confirming that the licence has been varied, and setting out the 
reasons for the variation and the right of appeal. 

236. The licence holder or any relevant person may appeal against the decision to vary the 
licence within 28 days. Appeals must be made to the Residential Property Tribunal. 

237. The council may not agree to a variation proposed by a licence holder. In such 
circumstances, a two stage process, similar to that described above, will be followed. 
There is a right of appeal against the decision not to vary a licence. 

Revocation of a licence 

238. The council may revoke a licence in the following circumstances: 

o When there has been agreement with the licence holder; 

o Following a serious breach of one or more licence conditions; 

o Following repeated breaches of one or more licence conditions; 

o When the council is of the opinion that the licence holder is no longer a fit and 
proper person; 

Page 83



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

o When the council is of the opinion that the manager is no longer a fit and proper 
person; 

o In the case of premises subject to an HMO licence under Part 2 of the Act, when 
the HMO ceases to be an HMO that is required to be licensed; 

o In the case of premises subject to an HMO licence under Part 2 of the Act, when 
the structure is no longer suitable for use as an HMO; 

o In the case of premises subject to a selective licence under Part 3 of the Act, 
when the property ceases to be a property that is required to be licensed; 

o In the case of premises subject to a selective licence under Part 3 of the Act, 
when a mandatory HMO licence has been granted in respect of the premises 
under Part 2 of the Act; 

o In the case of premises subject to a selective licence under Part 3 of the Act, 
when the structure is no longer adequate for the purposes of selective licensing. 

239. To revoke a licence, the council must follow the procedures set out in Schedule 5 of the 
Act. In the first instance, the council will write to the licence holder and all relevant 
persons, and enclose a statutory notice explaining that the council is proposing to 
revoke the licence. Recipients of the notice are given 21 days in which to make 
representations about the proposed revocation. Any representations received by the 
council during the consultation period will be carefully considered before further action 
is taken.  

240. The proposal stage may be omitted by the council if the licence holder is in full 
agreement with the proposed revocation. 

241. If no representations are made during the consultation period, or if the representations 
received do not change the council’s opinion, the licence will be revoked. Once the 
council has decided to revoke the licence, it will write to the licence holder and all 
relevant persons, and enclose: 

o A copy of the council’s decision to revoke the licence; 

o A statutory notice setting out the reasons for the revocation, the date on which 
the decision to revoke the licence was made, and the right of appeal. 

242. The licence holder or any relevant person may appeal against the decision to revoke 
the licence within 28 days. Appeals must be made to the Residential Property Tribunal. 

243. The council may, following an application from the licence holder, refuse to revoke a 
licence. In such circumstances, a two stage process, similar to that described above, 
will be followed. There is a right of appeal against the decision to refuse to revoke a 
licence. 

Temporary exemption from licensing 

244. A person having control of or managing a premises that is in need of a licence may 
decide, for whatever reason, that they do not want to licence the premises. In such 
circumstances, the person (usually the owner) will need to apply to the council for a 
Temporary Exemption Notice. 

245. The council may decide to approve or refuse an application for a Temporary Exemption 
Notice. 

246. If the council agrees to serve a Temporary Exemption Notice, the person concerned 
will be given three months in which to take lawful and appropriate steps to change the 
nature of occupation. The council will expect the person to take positive and timely 
action, such that the premises concerned no longer needs a licence by the end of the 
three month period. 

Page 84



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 51 

 

247. If after three months, the premises remain licensable, the council has the discretion to 
serve a second and final Temporary Exemption Notice. However, there has to be good 
reason to serve a second notice as the Act only permits this course of action in 
exceptional circumstances. A second and final notice will provide for an additional three 
months’ exemption. A premises cannot be exempted for a period longer than six 
months in total. 

248. If the council decides to refuse an application for a Temporary Exemption Notice, the 
applicant will be sent a notice which confirms the decision, the reason why the decision 
was taken, and the right of appeal. Appeals must be made to the Residential Property 
Tribunal within 28 days. 

Penalties for non-compliance 

Offences 

249. There are two offences associated with both HMO and selective licensing. 

250. Failing to obtain a licence for a property which is required to be licensed is an offence. 
The offence is committed by the person having control of and/or the person managing 
the premises. A person committing such an offence is liable on summary conviction to 
a fine not exceeding £20,000. 

251. Once a licence has been issued, the licence holder and any named manager (if 
applicable) must adhere to the licence conditions. The licence holder and/or the licence 
manager will commit an offence if they breach any of the licence conditions. A person 
committing such an offence is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding 
level 5 on the standard scale (currently £5,000) for each breach, unless the breach 
concerns the over-occupation of a mandatory licensable HMO. A person who 
knowingly permits the over-occupation of an HMO which is subject to a licence under 
Part 2 of the Act is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding £20,000. 

252. However, the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 will 
remove the £5,000 and £20,000 fine limits and introduce unlimited fines from a 
designated date. As at January 2014, the date is unknown, but it is anticipated to be in 
the near future. 

253. In respect of licensing offences there is a defence of “reasonable excuse”. 

Prosecution 

254. When a person fails to licence a property, or breaches a licence condition, the council 
will begin an investigation to consider whether or not an offence has been committed. 

255. If the council forms the opinion that an offence has been committed, it will initiate 
prosecution proceedings in the Magistrates’ Court (unless there are good reasons not 
to do so). Reference should be made to Chapter 13: Prosecutions. 

Restriction on terminating tenancies 

256. No section 21 notice may be given in respect of unlicensed premises. 

257. In this context, a “section 21 notice” is a notice served under section 21(1)(b) or (4)(a) 
of the Housing Act 1988 in order to regain possession of a property subject to a 
shorthold tenancy. 

258. The following are not “unlicensed premises”: 

o A property subject to a valid temporary exemption notice; 

o A property subject to a valid licence application that is being determined by the 
council. 

Page 85



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Rent Repayment Orders 

259. In certain situations, the council or a resident may make an application to the 
Residential Property Tribunal for a Rent Repayment Order (“RRO”). 

260. If a property is licensable under the mandatory HMO or selective licensing regimes and 
the council is of the opinion that an offence has been committed owing to the failure of 
the person having control of or managing the premises to make a valid licence 
application, the council may make an RRO application. An application can be made 
irrespective of whether the council decides to prosecute for the offence. 

261. Council applications will concern the repayment of housing benefit monies paid in 
respect of an unlicensed property. Applications may only relate to periods of up to 12 
months. 

262. However, before an RRO application can be made, the council must serve a Notice of 
Intended Proceedings on the appropriate person. The notice will set out the reasons 
why the council intends to make an application and state the amount it wishes to 
recover. The notice will give the recipient 28 days in which to make representations. 
Any representations received by the council must be carefully considered before any 
further action is taken. 

263. A resident may make an RRO application, but only if the council has successfully 
prosecuted the appropriate person for failing to licence the premises, or the council has 
been successful in making its own RRO. Resident applications may only be made in 
respect of rents they have paid over a period of up to 12 months. 

264. RROs made in favour of the council are a local land charge and the council may use 
the enforced sale procedure under the Law of Property Act 1925 to recover its debt.  

265. The council is of the opinion that RROs are a significant deterrent to operating 
unlicensed premises. As such, the council will consider applying for an RRO at every 
available opportunity. If, after careful consideration, it is deemed to be in the public 
interest to make an application for an RRO, an application will be made. 

266. The council will also ensure, insofar as is reasonably practicable, that any resident who 
is entitled to apply for a RRO is made aware of their right to do so. 

Interim and Final Management Orders 

267. Please refer to Chapter 11: Interim and Final Management Orders. This chapter 
provides information on how such orders are relevant to licensing. 

Page 86



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 53 

 

Chapter 9: HMO amenity guidelines 

268. HMOs vary widely in size, provision and layout, and are often occupied by those who 
have the most limited housing choices. While some HMOs may be of a high 
specification catering for certain markets, such as young professionals, many HMOs 
are occupied by vulnerable persons who have complex health and social care needs. 
Whatever the case, it is important that HMO residents are provided with safe and 
suitably-sized accommodation with adequate provision for amenities. 

HMO licensing 

269. When assessing the adequacy of the amenities provided in an HMO subject to a 
licence application (under Part 2 of the Act), the council must have regard to sections 
64 and 65 of the Act. 

270. Before granting a licence under section 64, the council must be satisfied that the HMO 
is reasonably suitable for occupation by the number of households and persons 
intended to live there, or if it is not, that the imposition of licence conditions will make it 
so suitable. The council may take into account a wide-range of factors when making 
this assessment; however, it must have regard to section 65, which concerns 
prescribed amenity standards. 

Prescribed amenity standards 

271. The prescribed amenity standards for licensable HMOs are contained in regulations 
made under section 65, namely: The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 
(SI 2006/373) as amended by The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007 (SI 2007/1903). The 
prescribed amenity standards are contained in Schedule 3 of the regulations. While 
licensable HMOs must be able to comply with them, simply meeting these standards 
does not necessarily mean that the council will be satisfied as to the suitability test set 
out in section 64. 

272. The prescribed amenity standards provide for the following: 

Heating 

273. Each unit of accommodation must be equipped with adequate means of space heating. 

Washing facilities 

274. Where shared washing and toilet facilities are provided (that being bathrooms, WCs 
and wash-basins), there must be an adequate number of such facilities having regard 
to the number of persons using them. All facilities must be suitably located. 

275. Furthermore, where reasonably practicable, there must be a wash-basin in each unit of 
accommodation. 

Shared kitchens 

276. Where private kitchen facilities are not provided, the HMO must contain at least one 
shared kitchen that is suitably located and adequately equipped having regard to the 
number of people sharing the kitchen. 

Private washing and kitchen facilities 

277. Adequate kitchen facilities must be provided within a unit of accommodation if a 
suitably located and equipped shared kitchen is unavailable to the occupier. 

Page 87



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

278. Adequate private washing and toilet facilities must be provided within a unit of 
accommodation (or within reasonable proximity to the accommodation) if suitably 
located and equipped shared facilities are unavailable to the occupier. 

Fire precautions 

279. Appropriate fire precaution facilities and equipment must be provided of such type, 
number and location as is considered necessary. 

Local HMO amenity guidelines 

280. The prescribed amenity standards provide principles, but not much detail. They are 
open to interpretation. As such, the council provides further guidance on how it 
determines licence applications in the form of local HMO amenity guidelines. These are 
set out in a separate document entitled Thanet District Council: Amenity Guidelines for 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs). The document provides clear advice on what 
is expected in licensable HMOs and is available from the council in hard copy or 
electronic format, and can be accessed at www.thanet.gov.uk. 

281. The local guidelines are not strict standards, but they should be complied with where it 
is reasonably practicable to do so. As every HMO is different, each application is 
determined on its own merits. 

282. The local guidelines provide detailed advice on matters such as: 

o Minimum room sizes; 

o Personal washing facilities, including the required ratio of facilities to persons 
sharing; 

o Toilets, including the required ratio of WCs to persons sharing; 

o Private kitchen facilities, including minimum equipment requirements; 

o Shared kitchens, including minimum equipment requirements and the required 
ratio of kitchens to persons sharing; 

o Acceptable forms of space heating; and 

o Required fire precautions, including fire detection, emergency lighting, fire doors, 
fire extinguishers and fire blankets. 

Non-licensable HMOs 

283. Amenities in non-licensable HMOs are assessed under the Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System. While the prescribed amenity standards and local guidelines do not 
apply to non-licensable HMOs, they provide sound advice for what would be expected. 
Officers assessing such HMOs will refer to the council’s local guidelines to inform their 
HHSRS hazard assessments. 

Page 88



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 55 

 

Chapter 10: HMO management regulations 

Overview 

284. Section 234 of the Act provides for the making of HMO management regulations by the 
Secretary of State. 

285. If a person managing an HMO does not comply with the HMO management regulations 
issued by the Secretary of State, they are guilty of an offence (unless they have a 
reasonable excuse). The maximum fine is £5,000 per breach of a regulation. 

286. The Secretary of State has issued two sets of regulations: 

o The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006 
(SI 2006/372). These regulations apply to all HMOs, except those defined as 
converted blocks of flats under section 257 of the Act.  

o The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional 
Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007 (SI 2007/1903). These regulations apply 
only to HMOs defined as converted blocks of flats under section 257 of the Act. 

287. Both sets of regulations impose duties on the persons managing HMOs in respect of: 

o Providing information to occupiers; 

o Taking safety measures, including fire safety measures; 

o Maintaining the water supply and drainage; 

o Supplying and maintaining gas and electricity, including having it regularly 
inspected; 

o Maintaining common parts; 

o Maintaining living accommodation; and 

o Providing waste disposal facilities. 

288. The regulations also impose duties on occupiers to ensure that they do not hinder the 
effective management of HMOs. 

289. HMO licensing is an entirely separate legislative regime. The regulations apply to all 
types of HMOs, both licensable and non-licensable. 

Enforcement 

290. It is the responsibility of persons managing HMOs to understand and comply with the 
regulations at all times. Copies of the regulations are available from the council and 
can be downloaded from or viewed at www.legislation.co.uk. 

291. In general terms, the council will seek to ensure compliance with the regulations by 
means of an educative and informal approach. Initiating prosecution as a first response 
will not normally be the council’s approach. Therefore, where contraventions have been 
identified, the council will usually send an informal notice to the person(s) managing the 
HMO, setting out the nature of the failings and requiring the taking of remedial action 
within prescribed timescales. Further legal action would not be taken if such a notice is 
complied with satisfactorily. However, failing to comply with the timescales set out in an 
informal notice without reasonable excuse may lead to prosecution proceedings being 
initiated by the council. 

Page 89



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

292. In some situations, the council may decide to initiate a prosecution without recourse to 
informal procedures. Immediate prosecution may be considered for contraventions 
that: 

o Are so serious that the failings have exposed occupiers to significant risk or 
caused actual harm; 

o Are related to other forms of enforcement action being taken by the council; or 

o Have been repeated and the manager has already been subject to informal 
intervention under the HMO regulations. 

293. Reference should be made to Chapter 13: Prosecutions. 

Page 90



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 57 

 

Chapter 11: Interim and final management orders 

Interim management orders 

294. In certain prescribed circumstances (as set out in Chapter 1 of Part 4 of the Act), the 
council is empowered to make Interim Management Orders (“IMOs”) in respect of 
privately rented properties, including HMOs. An IMO authorises the council to take 
control of the residential premises to which the order relates. This power is reserved for 
the most problematic properties and is only considered as a last resort.  

295. Once an IMO has been made, the council effectively becomes the temporary landlord 
of the premises concerned. While it does not obtain any interest in the property, it 
becomes responsible for its proper management and for ensuring that any immediate 
health, safety or welfare concerns are dealt with as soon as possible. Once an IMO has 
been made, the landlord may not become involved in the management of the property 
or create tenancies or licences. However, the council may only issue new tenancies 
and licences with the approval of the landlord. 

296. Rents usually payable to the landlord would instead be paid to the council and used to 
ensure that the property is made safe and properly managed. The reasonable 
expenses incurred by the council in taking such action are recoverable from the rents 
collected. Once the council’s reasonable expenses have been deducted, the remaining 
rental income is returned to the landlord at intervals determined by the council. The 
council must keep full financial accounts when in control of the premises and make 
these available for inspection by the landlord and anyone else with an estate or interest 
in the property. 

297. An IMO cannot be in force for a period longer than 12 months. 

Mandatory duty to make an IMO 

298. There are prescribed circumstances in which the council has a mandatory duty to make 
an IMO. These relate only to HMOs subject to mandatory or discretionary licensing 
under Part 2 of the Act and residential dwellings required to be licensed under a 
selective licensing designation (Part 3 of the Act). The circumstances are: 

o When, in respect of a property that should be licensed but is not so licensed, 
there is no reasonable prospect of it becoming licensed in the near future; 

o When, in respect of a property that should be licensed but is not so licensed, 
there are serious health, safety or welfare concerns that cannot be dealt with 
adequately by using the statutory powers available under Part 1 of the Act (e.g. 
Improvement Notices); 

o When, in respect of a licensed property, the council has revoked the licence and 
there will be (on the revocation date) no reasonable prospect of it becoming 
licensed again in the near future; 

o When, in respect of a licensed property, the council has revoked the licence and 
there will be (on the revocation date) serious health, safety or welfare concerns 
that cannot be dealt with adequately by using the statutory powers available 
under Part 1 of the Act (e.g. Improvement Notices). 

Discretionary power to make an IMO 

299. There are prescribed circumstances in which the council has the discretionary power to 
make an IMO. However, this discretionary power is only exercisable with approval from 
the Residential Property Tribunal. The circumstances are: 

Page 91



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

o When, in respect of an HMO that is not required to be licensed, there are serious 
health, safety or welfare concerns; 

o When, in respect of a privately rented dwelling or a building containing such 
dwellings (unless subject to a statutory exemption), there are serious health, 
safety or welfare concerns and the further conditions set out within The Housing 
(Interim Management Orders) (Prescribed Circumstances) (England) Order 2006 
(SI 2006/369) have been satisfied. These further conditions are that the area in 
which the property is situated is experiencing a significant and persistent problem 
caused by anti-social behaviour, that the problem is attributable, in whole or in 
part to an occupier of the property, that the landlord is a private sector landlord 
and that he is failing to take action that it would be appropriate for him to take to 
combat the problem. 

Final management orders 

300. Final management orders (“FMOs”) are orders which may only be made after the 
making of an IMO. FMOs are similar to IMOs, but provide for a longer-term solution 
and can be in place for up to five years. 

301. An FMO must include a “management scheme” that sets out how the council would 
manage the property while the FMO is in place. A management scheme must be in two 
parts. Part 1 of the scheme must contain a plan giving details of the way in which the 
council proposes to manage the house. Part 2 must describe, in general terms, how 
the council intends to address the matters which caused them to make the FMO. 

302. Under an FMO, the council has the power to issue assured shorthold tenancies without 
obtaining permission from the landlord. 

Mandatory duty to make an FMO 

303. If the council has made an IMO in respect of a property that is required to be licensed 
under Parts 2 or 3 of the Act (HMO and selective licensing) and it is of the opinion that 
on the expiry of the IMO there would be no prospect of it being able to grant a licence, 
it must make an FMO to replace the IMO upon its expiry. 

304. If the above conditions were to apply again upon the expiry of the first FMO, the council 
would be obliged to make a further FMO. 

Discretionary power to make an FMO 

305. If the council has made an IMO in respect of a property that is not required to be 
licensed under Parts 2 or 3 of the Act (HMO and selective licensing), but it is of the 
opinion that there is a longer-term need to protect the health, safety and welfare of 
residents and neighbours, it may make an FMO to replace the IMO upon its expiry. 

306. If the above conditions were to apply again upon the expiry of the first FMO, the council 
would have the discretionary power to make a further FMO. 

General approach to IMOs and FMOs 

307. Notwithstanding the council’s duty to take action in certain circumstances, it is clear 
that the making of an IMO or FMO is a significant step in relation to privately-owned 
property. Furthermore, such action is without doubt an onerous task for the council. As 
such, the council considers the making of an IMO or FMO to be a last resort and will 
always endeavour to use other means to secure necessary improvements before 
making such an order. This statement of intent does not, however, preclude the council 
from using its discretionary powers if, in the public interest, it is clearly necessary to do 
so. 

Page 92



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 59 

 

Chapter 12: Empty homes 

308. Empty and derelict properties have an adverse effect on neighbourhoods. They are 
unsightly and can attract crime and anti-social behaviour such as squatting, arson, 
graffiti and fly-tipping. They may also affect the value of neighbouring properties by 
creating an impression of neglect and decline within the community. Communities are 
less likely to flourish and prosper in areas where multiple empty properties are in close 
proximity. 

309. Such properties are not only eyesores and a source of neighbourhood distress, they 
are a wasted resource in a time of ever growing housing demand. Many people cannot 
access good housing, yet many homes stand vacant.  

310. Properties can remain empty for a number of reasons, including inheritance 
complications, high repair costs combined with low values, limited or negative equity, 
adverse lending policies, and owners going into residential care. A lack of awareness 
of available options and sentimentality are common reasons. 

311. With a high number of empty homes in Thanet, the council is committed to taking 
action whenever possible to bring them back into use. Council intervention helps 
increase overall housing supply and reduces the negative environmental and economic 
effects that empty properties have on neighbourhoods. 

Empty property complaints 

312. Anyone may report an empty property to the council’s Housing Regeneration Team. 

313. Upon receipt of an empty property complaint, an officer will make preliminary enquiries. 
Existing council records will be reviewed and an initial visit will usually take place within 
28 days. A visit may not be necessary if a previous complaint is already being 
investigated. 

314. If, following inspection, a property is confirmed to be vacant, the council will normally 
attempt to engage with the owner on an informal basis. Usually, this will involve 
sending a letter with an offer of help and advice. If a response is made, the council will 
attempt to help in whatever way it can. If no response is made, a further attempt to 
contact the owner will be made. Again, this will usually be by way of an informal letter. 

315. Whereas the council will attempt to keep a complainant updated as much as possible 
during the course of an empty property investigation, only limited information is likely to 
be available. Any communications between the owner of the empty property and the 
council will usually be confidential and subject to data protection requirements. 

316. The council will always endeavour to bring an empty property back into use by informal 
means. Unfortunately, this is not always possible. 

Prioritising action 

317. If the informal approach proves to be unsuccessful, the council has to determine what 
action, if any, to take.  

318. Owing to the high number of empty homes, not all of which are long-term empty or in 
poor repair, the council cannot, and has no desire to, intervene in every case. The 
resources available to the council must be used to good effect and be directed at those 
properties causing the most problems. As empty property enforcement action is 
onerous and time-consuming, the council has adopted a priority rating system. 

Page 93



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

319. When a property is confirmed to be vacant, it will be subject to a priority assessment 
based on a number of factors. These include:  

o Crime and anti-social behaviour (historic and future risk; including arson, 
trespass, squatting, fly-tipping and graffiti); 

o Appearance (the degree to which the premises are unsightly and detrimental to 
the area, including matters such as decorative repair, rubbish accumulations and 
overgrown vegetation); 

o Prominence (property size and location; for example, whether the property is in a 
high profile location seen by many, or down a side street only ever seen by very 
few if any people); 

o General condition (physical condition of the premises, both internal and external; 
for example, whether the building is in an uninhabitable condition); 

o Physical effect (whether the condition of the property is causing damage to other 
residential buildings; for example, whether the roof is leaking to such an extent 
that water penetration has begun to affect neighbouring homes); 

o Time vacant (the length of time the property has been empty). 

320. For each category, the property will be assessed as having a Minimal, Low, Medium or 
High rating. Based on the assessment, points are awarded for each category. The 
scores given for each assessment are set out in the following table: 
 

 Minimal Low Medium High 

Crime and anti-social behaviour 0 5 10 15 

Appearance 0 10 15 25 

Prominence 0 5 10 15 

General condition 0 5 10 15 

Physical effect 0 10 20 30 

Time vacant 0 5 10 15 

 

321. The points awarded are totalled and each property is given an overall score, with the 
maximum score being 115. The overall score is then placed into one of four bandings, 
namely: 

o A = 90 and over (HIGH); 

o B = 75-89 (MEDIUM); 

o C = 40-74 (LOW); 

o D = 39 and below (MINIMAL). 

322. Any empty residential property given a High rating will usually be recommended for 
enforcement action should informal intervention be unsuccessful. Properties given a 
Medium rating may also be considered for such action. 

323. Properties given a Low or Minimal rating are unlikely to be subject to enforcement 
action unless there are particular circumstances that render such action in the public 
interest. 

324. Irrespective of the rating awarded, the council will always attempt to assist and advise 
any empty property owner should they ask for help. 

325. The council is committed to constantly reviewing the priority rating system to ensure 
that it remains fit for purpose and provides a meaningful and fair way of assessing the 
need for statutory intervention. As such, the scoring matrix may be subject to change at 
any time. 

Page 94



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 61 

 

 

Enforcement 

326. A range of statutory powers can be used to help bring empty homes back into use. The 
“Legislative overview” chapter highlights the main statutory provisions available to the 
council. However, the legislative tools that are reasonably available are very much 
dependent on the individual circumstances of each case. 

327. Subject to available resources, the council will adopt a firm approach to the most 
problematic of empty properties. The more significant forms of intervention include: 

o The compulsory purchase of the land or building concerned to ensure that the 
site is brought back into use; 

o Following the service of a statutory notice, the carrying out of works-in-default to 
improve property conditions (and the placing of a charge on the property to 
secure the repair costs as a debt); 

o The enforced sale of a property, as a means of recovering any debt owed to the 
council (such as a debt resulting from works-in-default). 

328. While enforcement action in respect of empty homes is a priority for the council, it does 
not have a mandatory duty to bring them back into use. 

Page 95



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Chapter 13: Prosecutions 

329. Whenever appropriate, the council will prosecute those who fail to comply with the law 
relating to private sector housing. 

Interviews under caution 

330. If the council has good reason to believe that an offence has been committed, it may 
invite the relevant person to attend an interview under caution at the main council 
offices in Cecil Street, Margate. Such interviews are recorded and take place in 
accordance with the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984. Any person invited to 
attend such an interview is entitled to be accompanied by legal representation. 
However, where there is clear evidence of an offence and the council is of the opinion 
that an interview under caution would be of little or no value to an investigation, it may 
decide to prosecute without recourse to such an interview. 

331. An interview under caution is an opportunity for the suspect to explain why they have 
failed to comply with the legislative provision giving rise to the suspected offence. Any 
person invited to an interview under caution is strongly advised to attend. Failing to 
respond to such an invitation is likely to be detrimental should a defence be offered in 
any future prosecution proceedings. 

Code for Crown Prosecutors 

332. During all investigations into possible offences, the council will have regard to the latest 
edition of the Code for Crown Prosecutors issued by the Director of Public 
Prosecutions under section 10 of the Prosecution of Offences Act 1985. 

333. The council will only initiate prosecution proceedings if the requirements of both stages 
of the Full Code Test (“the code”) have been met. The code is set out in the Code for 
Crown Prosecutors, which is available online at www.cps.gov.uk. 

The Evidential Test 

334. Stage one of the code is the Evidential Test. To pass this stage, the council must be 
satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction. It 
must consider what the defence case may be, and how it is likely to affect the 
prospects of conviction. A case which does not pass the evidential stage will not 
proceed, no matter how serious or sensitive it may be. 

The Public Interest Test 

335. Stage two of the code is the Public Interest Test. A case passing the Evidential Test is 
not automatically prosecuted. However, a prosecution will usually take place unless the 
council is satisfied that there are public interest factors tending against prosecution 
which outweigh those tending in favour. 

General approach to prosecutions 

336. The council is committed to taking firm action against those who disregard the law and 
put the health, safety and welfare of Thanet’s residents at risk. Every case is 
considered on its own facts and on its own merits, but in principle, any case which 
passes both stages of the code will be prosecuted. 

 

Page 96



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 63 

 

Chapter 14: Publicity 

Prosecutions 

337. Following each successful prosecution, the council will assess the merits of publicising 
details of the case. 

338. The council strongly believes that publicising prosecutions sends out a clear and strong 
message that discourages others from disregarding the law. Such messages are 
considered to be effective in encouraging the provision of safer housing for the 
residents of Thanet.  

339. Therefore, where publicity is clearly in the public interest, the council will issue a press 
release and may, in addition, request relevant publications to feature the prosecution in 
more detail. Press releases will include the name of the convicted party (whether it be 
an individual or business) and their street address (but not property number), and the 
full address of the property at which the offence took place.  

340. Most prosecutions are likely to be subject to publicity. However, the council will not 
publicise a case if it is clearly not in the public interest to do so. 

Rent Repayment Orders 

341. Following each successful application for a RRO, the council will assess the merits of 
publicising details of the case. The principles set out above for publicising prosecutions 
also apply to RROs.  

Other newsworthy interventions 

342. The council may also publicise other newsworthy stories related to private sector 
housing. Examples include when a well-known eyesore empty property has been 
brought back to use, or where the council has stepped in and undertaken works-in-
default to safeguard resident safety. 

343. Before issuing a press release or undertaking any other form of publicity, the council 
will carefully consider whether it is appropriate to do so. 

Page 97



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Chapter 15: Engagement 

344. The council recognises that engaging with landlords and managing agents on an 
informal basis is an invaluable way of raising standards and promoting good quality 
private sector accommodation. Most landlords comply with the law, and some of those 
who do not can easily be persuaded with just a little help and advice. The council 
therefore believes in a proactive approach towards landlord engagement. Through 
constructive dialogue and landlord accreditation the council can increase the number of 
safe and healthy homes, and businesses can prosper. 

Thanet Landlords’ Focus Group 

345. The council formed the Thanet Landlords’ Focus Group (“the Focus Group”) in 
collaboration with landlord representatives in 2008. Currently, the Focus Group meets 
three times a year and is made up of 15 landlords and managing agents who own or 
manage residential properties in the Thanet area. 

346. The primary aim of the Focus Group is to increase the level of understanding and 
communication between the council and local private sector landlords and managing 
agents. 

347. The four primary objectives of the Focus Group are: 

o To bring to the attention of the council matters which are of importance to local 
private sector landlords and managing agents; 

o To be a route through which all local private sector landlords and managing 
agents can raise relevant issues for discussion; 

o To be a consultative body for policy changes proposed by the council that could 
affect the private rented sector; and 

o To take the lead in determining the nature and content of the council’s Landlord 
Events. 

348. The Focus Group is democratically elected every three years. Anyone interested in 
becoming a member of the Focus Group should contact the council using the 
dedicated email address: landlordsfocusgroup@thanet.gov.uk. 

349. Anyone wanting to bring a particular matter to the Focus Group’s attention can do so 
by using this email address. All communications will be made available to the Focus 
Group. However, meetings are time limited and the Chair (not a council officer) will 
determine which matters can be raised at the next meeting. 

350. Wherever possible, the council will consult the Focus Group before implementing any 
new or substantially revised policy that could affect landlords and managing agents 
who own or manage residential properties in the Thanet area. 

Annual Landlord Event 

351. The council organises a Landlord Event in conjunction with the Focus Group. The 
event, which is currently free to attend, is open to all interested landlords and managing 
agents. The format of the event is flexible and is determined by the Focus Group. 

352. At recent events, presentations have been made on subjects believed to be of most 
interest, such as housing benefit/welfare reform, anti-social behaviour, landlord 
accreditation and property licensing. The National Landlords Association, Residential 
Landlords Association and Southern Landlords Association have been previous 
contributors. There is normally time before and after the presentations for networking, 
and public agency and trade stands are usually on hand to offer help and advice. 

Page 98



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 65 

 

353. The elections to the Focus Group are held at the Landlord Event. 

354. Anyone interested in attending (or exhibiting or speaking at) the annual event can 
obtain more information by emailing landlordsfocusgroup@thanet.gov.uk. Places are 
limited, so pre-booking is recommended. Continuing Professional Development 
(“CPD”) certificates are available for pre-booked attendees. 

Kent Landlord Accreditation Scheme 

355. The council is a partner authority which supports and promotes the Kent Landlord 
Accreditation Scheme (“KLAS”). The scheme aims to recognise good landlords and 
agents who have the skills needed to run a successful rental business and provide 
good quality and safe accommodation. An individual, partnership or company can 
become accredited. Since the scheme was launched over 150 landlords who manage 
properties in the district have become members. 

356. To become accredited, an applicant must: 

o Complete a one day development course (and pay the appropriate fee for 
attendance); and 

o Agree to comply with a code of conduct; and 

o Be considered a fit and proper person. 

357. For more information about the scheme and how to join, visit www.kentlas.org.uk. 
Please note, KLAS is a part of the UK Landlord Accreditation Partnership (“UKLAP”). 

358. Official accreditation training courses are available throughout London and the South-
East.  Courses in Thanet are usually held at the Kent Innovation Centre, Thanet Reach 
Business Park, Millennium Way (off Northwood Road), Broadstairs, Kent, CT10 2QQ.  
For the dates of upcoming courses, please contact the Housing Regeneration Team. 

359. Whenever possible, the council will offer incentives to encourage accreditation. For 
example, accredited landlords and agents are currently eligible for discounts on HMO 
and selective licensing fees. The council reserves the right to withdraw any incentive 
offered without notice. 

Page 99



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

Help and advice 

360. If you would like further advice or clarification, the Housing Regeneration Team can 
help. Please ring us on 01843 577437 and speak to one of our officers. We can also be 
contacted by email on: housing.conditions@thanet.gov.uk. 

361. Alternatively, you can write to us at: 

Housing Regeneration 
Community Services 
Thanet District Council 
PO Box 9 
Cecil Street 
Margate 
Kent  CT9 1XZ 

Making a complaint 

362. The Housing Regeneration Team wants to provide the best possible service. If you 
have a concern, our staff are here to help and will always try to resolve any problem 
you have quickly and efficiently. However, if you are not happy with the service you 
receive you can make a formal complaint to the council. 

363. More information about how to make a formal complaint can be found on the council’s 
website at: www.thanet.gov.uk. Alternatively, you can call, email or write to us: 

Telephone: 01843 577000 | Email: customer.services@thanet.gov.uk 

Address:  Complaints, Thanet District Council, PO Box 9, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent, 
CT9 1XZ. 

364. If, after having gone through the council’s formal complaints process, you believe that 
the council has not handled your complaint properly, you have the right to request an 
independent investigation by the Local Government Ombudsman Service. The 
Ombudsman Service will review your complaint and decide if it is appropriate to carry 
out an investigation. The service is free of charge. 

365. You can contact the Ombudsman Service at:  

The Local Government Ombudsman 
PO Box 4771 
Coventry  CV4 0EH 

Telephone: 0300 061 0614 | Website: www.lgo.org.uk  

Document history 

Version Date Agreed By Minute Ref. 

Draft (v1) 25 March 2014 For consultation.  

Draft (v2) 02 May 2014 Minor revisions following consultation.  

Draft (v3) 28 May 2014 Minor revisions following consideration at 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

 

Draft (v4) 06 June 2014 Minor revisions following consideration at 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

 

(Proposed) Document review date: 19 June 2016 

Page 100



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 67 

 Page 101



Private Sector Housing: Enforcement Policy and Guidance 

This page is intentionally blank 

Page 102



 

Thanet District Council                                                                                                                  | p 69 

 

 

If you would like a copy of this document in a different format 
such as Braille, audio or large print, or 

in another language please call 

01843 577165 
 

                          

 

Page 103



Page 104

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Full Equality Impact Analysis 
 

 
 
 
 

Title of review PROPOSED ADOPTION OF A HOUSING REGENERATION 
ENFORCEMENT POLICY AND GUIDANCE DOCUMENT 

Service Housing Regeneration 

Date of review 29 May 2014 

Date of next 
review 

N/A 

Lead officer, 
Job Title and 
Service 

Richard Hopkins, Housing Regeneration Team Leader, Housing 
Regeneration 

Review team  Richard Hopkins; Tanya Wenham, Head of Housing Services 

Scope of the 
analysis  

Thanet District Council is a Local Housing Authority (“LHA”). As such, it has a 
statutory duty to ensure that all private sector homes in the Thanet area are 
maintained in a safe condition. The council’s Housing Regeneration Team is 
responsible for delivering this statutory function. 

Safety in the home environment is of utmost importance. Everyone has the 
right to live in a home which does not have a detrimental effect on their 
health, safety or well-being. To this end, the council uses a wide range of 
statutory powers to ensure that those responsible for residential premises 
take the actions needed to prevent harm from occurring. 

For fairness and transparency, it is important that the council is open about 
how it conducts itself by publishing an enforcement policy with associated 
guidance. This is a requirement of the Enforcement Concordat (a voluntary 
code, which around 96% of central and local government enforcement bodies 
have adopted) and the Regulators’ Code (which provides statutory guidance 
for certain regulators). 

The council’s existing Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy, which was 
last updated in 2009, is now largely out-of-date. Since 2010, the Housing 
Regeneration Team has endeavoured to innovate, make efficiencies, and 
improve the overall service to customers. Consequently, the amount of 
enforcement action taken by the council has increased significantly. As such, 
a new Enforcement Policy and Guidance document has been drafted to 
reflect service evolvement.  

The purpose of this review is to consider the equality implications of the 
enforcement policies contained within the draft document. 

Beneficiaries The vast majority of residents in Thanet live in private sector housing, with 
over a quarter living in privately rented property. The services provided by the 
Housing Regeneration Team are available to all 55,917 households living in 
private sector homes. 

All Protected Characteristics will be represented within the beneficiaries. 

Agenda Item 5

Annex 2

Page 105



Stakeholders Stakeholders include: 

• Residents; 

• Owners/landlords of private residential premises; 

• Letting/managing agents; 

• Registered Social Landlords (Housing Associations); 

• Council Members; 

• Council staff; 

• Public services, such as the Police, Kent County Council, NHS, and the 
Kent Fire & Rescue Service; 

• Community and voluntary organisations. 

Relevant data 
and research  

N/A 

Access 
complaints 

None recorded. 

Consultation The draft document was subject to a four-week informal consultation. Copies 
of the document were circulated electronically to interested parties, including: 

• All councillors; 

• Senior Management Team; 

• Managers and officers in related services within the council;  

• Thanet Landlords’ Focus Group; (A council facilitated democratically 
elected group of 15 landlords and agents who meet with the council on a 
regular basis. The group, which has been running since 2008, acts as a 
consultative body representing landlords and agents working in Thanet.) 

In addition, a presentation to council managers at the Managers’ Forum held 
on 27 March 2014 explained the nature and scope of the consultation. 

Results of 
consultation 

The consultation did not highlight any concerns relating to the Protected 
Characteristics or the aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

Relevance to the Duty: 

Do your proposals contribute towards or impact on any of the aims of the duty? 

1. Eliminate unlawful discrimination – harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited by the Act; 

The proposed Enforcement Policy and Guidance document shall be equally and fairly applied to 
everyone. No potential for unlawful discrimination has been identified. 

2. Advance equality of opportunity – between people who share a protected characteristic 
and people who do not share it by; 

• removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics; 

•  meeting the needs of people with protected characteristics; and 

•  encouraging people with protected characteristics to participate in public life or in other 

Page 106



activities where their participation is low. 

Persons from vulnerable groups can sometimes have limited housing choices. In particular, 
families with young children, older persons and those with a disability can find themselves in 
poor quality rented accommodation. The work carried out by the Housing Regeneration Team 
often involves safeguarding the health, safety and welfare of these Protected Characteristics 
(Age and Disability). Therefore, effective enforcement action in relevant circumstances can help 
to minimise disadvantage and contribute to the needs of some of the Protected Characteristics. 

3. Foster good relations – between people who share a protected characteristic and people 
who do not share it, by; tackling prejudice and promoting understanding between people 
with a protected characteristic and others. 

Having regard to this aim, the proposed Enforcement Policy and Guidance document has a 
neutral impact. 

Equality impacts raised or identified: 

The proposed Enforcement Policy and Guidance document shall be equally and fairly applied to 
everyone. As such, no adverse equality impacts have been identified. However, certain 
beneficial impacts have been identified in respect of some of the Protected Characteristics. 
These are shown in the table below. 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Commentary 

Impact Yes. 

Poor housing conditions can negatively affect the health, safety 
and well-being of all residents, irrespective of age. However, 
certain housing deficiencies can have a more serious and 
harmful impact on individuals of particular ages. For example, 
older persons will suffer more in cold homes, and young children 
are more at risk from damp and mould. Susceptibility to ill-health, 
as a consequence of age, is taken into account when 
determining the level of risk and the remedial action required. 

Age 

Mitigation Not required, as the impact is positive. 

Impact No. 

The means of assessing private sector housing conditions does 
not take gender into account. 

Gender 

Mitigation Not required as no impact has been identified, negative or 
positive. 

Impact Yes. 

While race is not a consideration when considering housing 
enforcement, there may be language barriers for some residents 
in need of council assistance. 

Race 

Mitigation In general terms, experience has shown that non-English 
speakers tend to form support networks amongst friends and 
family and that when interaction with the Housing Regeneration 
Team is necessary, someone will be available to translate during 
housing visits. However, when this is not the case, the council 
will endeavour to arrange for an interpreter to be present during 

Page 107



inspections. 

Where owing to local circumstances it is appropriate, information 
can be provided in alternative languages. For example, when 
engaging in the proactive Your Home Your Health initiative in the 
Cliftonville area, certain groups were identified and letters were 
provided to households in an alternative language. 

Council publications, including those published by Housing 
Regeneration Team, can be provided in different languages.  

Impact Yes. 

While the prescribed means of assessing housing conditions 
does not permit disability to be taken into account, the course of 
action taken after risk assessment may be influenced by the 
disability of any resident. Therefore, the council may determine 
that intervention is appropriate to ensure the safety of a person 
with a disability. However, while the council will intervene 
wherever possible to safeguard this Protected Characteristic, it 
has no power to enforce specific disabled adaptations in 
residential dwellings.   

Persons with a visual impairment may find it difficult to access 
the guidance published by the Housing Regeneration Team. 

A person with a mental health condition may not initially want the 
assistance of the Housing Regeneration Team, despite living in 
the most appalling housing conditions which could result in their 
death or serious injury.  

Disability 

Mitigation Not generally required, as the impact is mostly positive.  

However, in line with corporate mitigation measures, the 
document and other associated guidance can be made available 
in Braille, audio or large print.  

Furthermore, any resident with a mental health condition who 
refuses assistance in the first instance, may be subject to multi-
agency intervention (e.g. KCC Social Services/NHS Mental 
Health Service) initiated by the Housing Regeneration Team if it 
is absolutely clear that taking no action may result in that person 
being at imminent risk of death or serious injury. As such, no 
person with a mental health condition will be excluded from 
accessing the service owing to their condition. Any such 
intervention is always taken in a sensitive manner under the 
guidance of the appropriate social and health care services. 

Impact No. 

A person’s religion or belief has no bearing on the actions taken 
by the Housing Regeneration Team. 

Religion or 
belief 

Mitigation Not required as no adverse impact has been identified; however, 
any intervention will, where possible, be sensitive to any 
religious festival. 

Gender 
reassignment 

Impact No. 

The means of assessing private sector housing conditions does 

Page 108



not take gender reassignment into account. 

Mitigation Not required as no impact has been identified, negative or 
positive. 

Impact No. 

The means of assessing private sector housing conditions does 
not take sexual orientation into account. 

Sexual 
Orientation 

Mitigation Not required as no impact has been identified, negative or 
positive. 

Impact No. 

The means of assessing private sector housing conditions does 
not take marriage or civil partnership into account. 

Marriage & 
Civil 
Partnership 
(Aim 1 only) 

Mitigation Not required as no impact has been identified, negative or 
positive. 

Impact No. 

The means of assessing private sector housing conditions does 
not take pregnancy and maternity into account.  

Pregnancy & 
Maternity (Aim 
1 only) 

Mitigation Not required as no adverse impacts have been identified. 
However, the council may determine that intervention is more 
appropriate in certain situations owing to the pregnancy of an 
existing resident. 

Overall conclusions and options to be put before decision maker (if contributing towards 
a report) or to take forward to develop your service (if reviewing a service) 

The Housing Regeneration Team participates in a range of interventions aimed at improving the 
health, safety and well-being of people living in the private sector. The proposed Enforcement 
Policy and Guidance document sets out how the team does this. Applicable to all residents in 
the private sector, the service is open to all on an equal and fair basis. As such, no adverse 
impacts associated with the Protected Characteristics or the aims of the Public Sector Equality 
Duty have been identified during this Equality Impact Assessment. 

However, it is clear that there are positive impacts in respect of some of the Protected 
Characteristics, notably Age and Disability. Therefore, the adoption of a new Enforcement Policy 
and Guidance document for Housing Regeneration will contribute to the aims of the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. 

Actions arising from analysis: 

Action Responsible 
Officer 

Deadline 

None. 
  

 
Acceptance 

Name and signature of assessing officer and date of assessment. 

Name: Richard Hopkins                      Position: Housing Regeneration Team Leader 

Signed:                                                 Date: 29 May 2014 

Page 109



Page 110

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
NOTICE OF MOTION No. 2 – DESIGNATION OF CONSERVATION AREA, 
CLIFTONVILLE 
 
To:  Cabinet 19th June 2014 
 
Main Portfolio Area:  Housing and Planning Services 

Strategic Economic Development Services 
 
By:  Director of Community Services 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
Ward: Cliftonville West 
 

 
Summary: The Designation of Conservation Areas in Cliftonville. 
 
For Decision 
 

 
1.0 Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 A motion was put to Council on 27th February 2014 regarding the designation 

of further conservation areas in Cliftonville. Council resolved that: - 
“That Council calls upon the Cabinet to consult on the process of designating 
further conservation areas in Cliftonville, with reference to the appraisals 
undertaken by the Council to ensure that the architecture and quality of 
housing in these areas is protected for generations to come.” 

 
1.2 Draft appraisals of seven areas in Cliftonville thought worthy of conservation 

area designation have been drawn up and these have been placed on the 
Council’s website for comment. They require updating. The Dalby Square, 
Dalby Road and Arthur Road area was designated on 15th July 2010. 

 
1.3 It is the recommendation of officers that potential conservation areas in 

Cliftonville should be designated sequentially, beginning with those areas most 
at threat from detrimental change. 

 
1.4 The Academy of Urbanism’s Diagnostic Panel visited Cliftonville in late April 

2014 to begin a dialogue with the local community regarding a sustainable 
future for the area. Their report on the visit has been sent to officers in draft 
form. Officers are commenting on factual errors contained in the report before 
it is presented to Members. 

 
1.5 By virtue of Sections 69 and 70 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Local Authorities have the power to designate 
areas in their district which are valued for their special architectural, spatial or 
historic interest as Conservation areas. Designation gives Local Authorities 
additional powers under planning legislation to assist in preserving and 

Agenda Item 6

Page 111



enhancing the special character of these defined areas. These powers include 
control over demolition and works to trees, restrictions on the display of 
advertisements and a requirement for higher quality design and materials in 
any new development. Local Authorities can also serve Article 4(2) Directions 
restricting Permitted Development Rights enjoyed by the owners of single 
dwellings within conservation areas. 

 
1.6 The Thanet District currently has 23 conservation areas, which have been 

progressively designated since the 1970s. 
 
1.7 This report describes the procedures for conservation area designation as set 

out in the Act and in accordance with good practice outlined in English 
Heritage’s publication Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and 
Management 2011 (Revised 2012). The report then proposes a timetable for 
the potential designation of further conservation areas in Cliftonville. 

 
2.0 Conservation Area Designation Procedure 
 
2.1 A preliminary characterisation study is carried out identifying the merit of an 

area and the potential boundaries of any designation. 
 

- A draft Area Appraisal and Management Plan (the potential designation 
documents) is compiled and consulted on over a six week period. 
Consultees would include Ward and County Councillors, property 
owners and tenants, businesses, amenity groups, residents’ 
associations and English Heritage. 
 

- At the end of the consultation period, a public meeting is held – 
preferably at a venue in, or close to, the area under consideration. 

 
- The Designation Documents are reviewed in the light of the 

consultation. The documents should include a schedule of all properties 
to be included in the proposed area. If Article 4(2) Directions are 
proposed to be served, a schedule of single dwellings in the area would 
also be needed. 

 
- A report is taken to Cabinet seeking a recommendation for forwarding 

to Council for possible designation. 
 

- All documents relating to a designation would need to be publically 
available at least three days before the decision meeting. 

 
- Council decide whether to designate. If a designation is made, it is 

effective from the time of the decision. 
 

- The designation needs to be advertised in a local paper and the London 
Gazette. If Article 4(2) Directions are to be served, notice would be 
served on individual property owners affected. 

 

Page 112



2.2 The following timetable is proposed for the designation of further conservation 
areas in Cliftonville: 

 
- A report is taken to Cabinet on 31st July 2014 seeking guidance on 

which defined area should be proposed for designation first, and 
seeking leave to go out to consultation. The report will also summarise 
the findings of the Academy of Urbanism Diagnostic visit.  

 
- The matter is brought back to Cabinet on 13th November 2014 setting 

out the results of the public consultation and seeking a recommendation 
to Council. 

 
- The matter is taken to Council on 18th November 2014 for decision as 

to whether to designate. 
 
3.0 Options 
 
3.1 That Cabinet agree the timetable set out at 2.2. 

3.2 That Cabinet do not agree. 

4.0 Next Steps 

4.1 As above. 

 
5.0 Corporate Implications 
 
5.1 Financial and VAT 
 
5.1.1 The costs of this exercise can be contained within existing budgets. 
 
5.2 Legal 
 
5.2.1 There are no further legal issues for comment not mentioned in the body of the report. 

 
5.3 Corporate 
 
5.3.1 The designation of conservation areas accords with Priorities 1 (Growth of the 

Economy), 3 (Community), 6 (Cleaner and Greener) and 11 (Public Open 
Spaces) of the Corporate Plan 2012-2016. 

 
5.4 Equity and Equalities 
 
5.4.1 The designation of conservation areas promotes community cohesion. 
 
6.0 Recommendation(s) 
 
6.1 That Cabinet agree option 3.1. 
 

Contact Officer: Nick Dermott Heritage Advisor 577142 

Reporting to: Edwina Crowley, Head of Economic Development and Asset 
Management 

Page 113



 

Annex List 
 

None N/A 

 
Background Papers 
 

Title Details of where to access copy 

None N/A 

 
Corporate Consultation Undertaken 
 

Finance Clive Bowen, External Funding Officer 

Legal Steven Boyle, Interim Legal Services Manager & Monitoring Officer 

 

Page 114



 

REPRESENTATION ON EXECUTIVE APPOINTED OUTSIDE BODIES FOR 
2014/15 
 
To: Cabinet – 19 June 2014 
 
By: Democratic Services & Scrutiny Manager 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
Wards affected: N/A 
 

 
Summary: This report informs Cabinet of the Leader’s choice of 

appointments to the Executive outside bodies. 
 
For Decision 
 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 It was agreed at the meeting of Council on 24 February 2011 that any list of 

outside bodies would be split in to two lists: those outside bodies that relate to 
an Executive function and hence should be appointed by the Cabinet and 
those that are appointed by Council. 

 
1.2 It is for Council to decide on those outside bodies it feels relate to an 

Executive function and hence should have a Cabinet Member appointed to 
them, but for Cabinet to agree the nominations to those outside bodies. 

 
1.3 The Leaders delegated powers were amended to allow her to propose her 

nominations for the Executive outside bodies to the Cabinet. 
 
2.0 Current Situation 
 
2.1 Council agreed the list of Executive outside bodies and the number of 

Councillors to be appointed to them, as described at paragraph 1.2 of this 
report at its Annual meeting on 15 May 2014. That list is appended at Annex 1 
to the report. 

 
2.2 The Leader has provided Democratic Services with her list of nominations to 

the Executive outside bodies and those names are shown at Annex 1 of the 
report. 

 
2.3 Members may wish to note that it was agreed at the Council meeting of 11 

July 2013 that the Council would end its membership of South East 
Employers. However because there was a notice period of one year starting 
from July 2013, the appointment of a Member to this body will only last until 
the 11 July 2014. 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 115



 

 
 
 

3.0 Corporate Implications 
 
3.1 Financial 
 
3.1.1 There were no financial implications arising directly from this report. 
 
3.2 Legal 
 
3.2.1 None 
 
3.3 Corporate 
 
3.3.1 The Council appoints representatives to outside bodies in order to express the 

views of the Council to those bodies on the work they undertake, and to feed 
back to the Council issues emerging from those bodies that relate to Council 
activities. 

 
3.4 Equity and Equalities 
 
3.4.1 There are no specific equity and equality considerations that need to be 

addressed in this report. 
 
4.0 Recommendation 
 
4.1 That Cabinet agrees the list of nominations to the Executive-related outside 

bodies as shown at Annex 1 of the report. 
 
5.0 Decision Making Process 
 
5.1 Cabinet is the decision making body only for making nominations to existing 

Bodies agreed by Council. Any newly proposed Outside Bodies would need to 
be agreed at Full Council. 

 

Contact Officer: Glenn Back, Democratic Services & Scrutiny Manager, ext.7187 

Reporting to: Paul Cook, Interim Director of Corporate Resources & Deputy 
s151 officer 

 
Annex List 
 

Annex 1 List of Executive Outside Bodies 

 
Background Papers 
 

Title Details of where to access copy 

None N/A 

 
Corporate Consultation Undertaken 
 

Finance Matt Sanham, Finance Manager (Service Support) 

Legal Steve Boyle, Interim Legal Services Manager & Monitoring Officer 

Page 116



 

 
 
 

 

Page 117



Page 118

This page is intentionally left blank



List of Executive Outside Bodies – for the year, 2014/15 
 

 
Name of Outside Body No. of 

Reps 
Nomination 

British Ports Association 1 Councillor Harrison 

British Destinations Association 
(AGM, Annual Conference and 
Executive Meetings) 

1 Councillor Johnston 

Community Safety Partnership 1 Councillor Johnston 

Domestic Violence Forum 1 + 1 
sub 

Councillor Johnston 
Councillor E. Green 

(sub) 

East Kent Opportunities Ltd 1 Councillor D. Green 

East Kent Spatial Development 
Company 

1 Councillor D. Green 

Kent International Airport 
Consultative Committee 

1 
+1 sub 

Councillor Nicholson 
Councillor D. Green 

(sub) 

Kent Police and Crime Panel 1 Councillor Campbell 

Local Government Association 
Coastal Special Interest Group  

1 Councillor Harrison 

Local Government Association 
District Councils’ Network 

 
1 

Councillor Johnston 

Local Government Association 
(General Assembly) 

1 Councillor Johnston 

Local Government Association 
Strategic Aviation Specialist 
Interest Group  

1 Councillor D. Green 

Local Government Association 
(Rural Commission) 

1 Councillor Harrison 

Margate Town Partnership 1 Councillor Johnston 

South East Employers 1 
+1 sub 

Councillor E. Green 
Councillor Johnston 

(sub) 

South East England Councils 
 

1 Councillor Johnston 

Supporting People in Kent 
Commissioning Body 
 

1 Councillor Dwyer 

Thanet Harbour Users’ Groups 1 
+ 

reserve 

Councillor Watkins 

Your Leisure Thanet Sub Group 2 Councillor Johnston 
Councillor Everitt 

Thanet Quality Bus Partnership 1 Councillor Nicholson 

Tourism South East 1 Councillor Johnston 

Agenda Item 7

Annex 1

Page 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



THANET DISTRICT COUNCIL DECLARATION OF INTEREST FORM 
 
Do I have a personal interest?  

 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely 
to affect: 
 
a) An interest you must register. 
b) An interest that is not on your register, but where the well-being or financial position or 

you, members of your family (spouse; partner; parents; in laws; step/children; nieces and 
nephews), or people with whom you have a close association (friends; colleagues; 
business associates and social contacts that can be friendly and unfriendly) is likely to be 
affected by the business of your authority more than it would affect the majority of: 

 

• Inhabitants of the ward or electoral division affected by the decision (in the case of 
the authorities with electoral divisions or wards.) 

• Inhabitants of the authority’s area (in all other cases) 
 
These two categories of personal interests are explained in this section. If you declare a 
personal interest you can remain in the meeting, speak and vote on the matter, unless your 
personal interest is also a prejudicial interest. 
 
Effect of having a personal interest in a matter 
 
You must declare that you have a personal interest, and the nature of that interest, before 
the matter is discussed or as soon as it becomes apparent to you except in limited 
circumstances. Even if your interest is on the register of interests, you must declare it in the 
meetings where matters relating to that interest are discussed, unless an exemption applies. 
 
When an exemption may be applied 
 
An exemption applies where your interest arises solely from your Membership of, or position 
of control or management on: 
1. Any other body to which you were appointed or nominated by the authority. 
2. Any other body exercising functions of a public nature (e.g. another local authority) 
 

Is my personal interest also a prejudicial interest? 
 
Your personal interest will also be a prejudicial interest in a matter if all of the following 
conditions are met: 
 
a) The matter does not fall within one of the exempt categories of decisions 
b) The matter affects your financial interests or relates to a licensing or regulatory 

matter. 
c) A member of public, who knows the relevant facts, would reasonably think your 

personal interest is so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the 
public interest. 

 

What action do I take if I have a prejudicial interest? 
 
a) If you have a prejudicial interest in a matter being discussed at a meeting, you must 

declare that you have a prejudicial interest as the nature of that interest becomes 
apparent to you. 

b) You should then leave the room, unless members of the public are allowed to make 
representations, give evidence or answer questions about the matter, by statutory 
right or otherwise. If that is case, you can also attend the meeting for that purpose. 

c) However, you must immediately leave the room once you have finished or when the 
meeting decides that you have finished (if that is earlier). You cannot remain in the public 
gallery to observe the vote on the matter. 

Page 121



d) In addition you must not seek to improperly influence a decision in which you have a 
prejudicial interest. 

 
This rule is similar to your general obligation not to use your position as a Member 
improperly to your or someone else’s advantage or disadvantage. 
 

What if I am unsure? 
 
If you are in any doubt, Members are strongly advised to seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or the Democratic Services Manager well in advance of the meeting. 

 
DECLARATION OF PERSONAL AND, PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL 

INTERESTS 

 
 
MEETING………………………………………………………………………………………………... 
 
 
DATE…………………………………………… AGENDA ITEM …………………………………… 
 
 
IS YOUR INTEREST: 
 

PERSONAL       
 

PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL    
 
 
NATURE OF INTEREST: 
 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………….…………… 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
 
NAME (PRINT): ………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
 
SIGNATURE: …………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
 
 
 
 
Please detach and hand this form to the Committee Clerk when you are asked to declare any 
interests. 
 

Page 122


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Asset Management - Disposal of Assets
	Annex 1 - Proposed Sites for Disposal
	Annex 2 - Land and Property Disposal Sites
	Annex 3 - Margate Caves Site
	Annex 4 -  Land at Hartsdown Park Margate
	Annex 5 - Asset Disposal Process Notes

	5 Adoption of the Housing Regeneration Enforcement Policy and Guidance Document
	Annex 1 - DRAFT Enforcement Policy
	Annex 2 - EIA Full

	6 Notice of Motion No. 2  - Designation of Conservation Area, Cliftonville
	7 Representation on Executive Appointed Outside Bodies for 2014/15
	Annex 1 - Proposed List of Executive Outside Bodies

	Declaration of Interest form - back of agenda

